Division of Molecular Structural Biology Department of Medical Biochemistry and Biophysics Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

MECHANISTIC INSIGHTS INTO THE BIOSYNTHESIS OF POLYKETIDE ANTIBIOTICS

Azmiri Sultana





Stockholm 2006

To ISHTIAK

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher

Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by INTELLECTA; Fabriksvägen 9, Box 3054, SE-16903, Solna, Sweden

© Azmiri Sultana, 2006 ISBN 91-7357-010-9

ABSTRACT

Anthracyclines are a group of aromatic polyketide compounds with significant medical importance due to their antineoplastic properties. Doxorubicin and daunorubicin, members of this family are among the two most commonly used anticancer drugs. These compounds exhibit severe side effects like cardiotoxicity and multi-drug resistance. A promising approach towards the production of modified anthracyclines with improved toxicity profiles appears to be combinatorial biosynthesis, including the redesign of biosynthetic enzymes; however, structural and mechanistic information of the biosynthetic enzymes is necessary for the redesigning approach.

The main focus of this thesis is the structural and functional studies of several anthracycline biosynthetic enzymes. The crystal structures of two polyketide cyclases, SnoaL and AknH were determined to 1.35Å and 1.9Å respectively. These enzymes share very similar α + β structural folds and catalyze a novel type of intramolecular aldol condensation reaction using acid/base chemistry. Moreover, comparison of the cyclase structures, followed by site-directed mutagenesis provided insights into the structural basis of stereoselectivity of products in AknH.

Several enzymes from aromatic polyketide biosynthetic pathways, including SnoaL/AknH provide illustrative examples of divergent evolution. The related enzymes usually share the same fold but contain different catalytic machineries to catalyze diverse reactions.

AknOx is a FAD-dependent oxidoreductase which is involved in the sugar modification in aclacinomycins and catalyzes two consecutive oxidation reactions. The structure of AknOx to 1.65Å resolution was obtained from a pseudomerohedrally twinned crystal by MAD. AknOx crystals show an unusual multi-domain twinning with six twin domains. Investigation of the active site and mutagenesis of the proposed residues revealed a unique feature in AknOx compared to other flavoenzymes. The enzyme contains a dual active site with two different sets of catalytic residues for catalyzing two consecutive reactions.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- Sultana A, Kallio P, Jansson A, Niemi J, Mäntsälä P and Schneider G. Crystallization and preliminary crystallographic data of SnoaL, a polyketide cyclase in nogalamycin biosynthesis. Acta Crystallographica Section D; 2004; 60(6); 1118-1120.
- Sultana A, Kallio P, Jansson A, Wang JS, Niemi J, Mäntsälä P, and Schneider G. Structure of the polyketide cyclase SnoaL reveals a novel mechanism for enzymatic aldol condensation. The EMBO Journal; 2004; 23(9); 1911-1921.
- Kallio P, Sultana A, Niemi J, Mäntsälä P, and Schneider G. Crystal structure of the polyketide cyclase AknH with bound substrate and product analogue: implications for catalytic mechanism and product stereoselectivity. Journal of Molecular Biology; 2006; 357(1), 210-220.
- Sultana, A., Alexeev, I., Kursula, I., Mäntsälä, P., Niemi, J., and Schneider, G. Structure determination by multiwavelength anomalous diffraction of aclacinomycin oxidoreductase: indications of multi-domain pseudomerohedral twinning. Accepted in Acta Crystallographica Section D on the October, 2006.
- 5. Alexeev, I., Sultana, A, Mäntsälä, P., Niemi, J., and Schneider, G. (Alexeev, I and Sultana, A are joint first authors). Crystal structure of aclacinomycin oxidoreductase: an unusual flavin enzyme with a dual active site. In manuscript, 2006.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	page			
1 Introduction	1			
1.1 Antibiotics: definition and history				
1.2 Polyketide antibiotics are secondary metabolites				
1.3 Anthracyclines				
1.3.1 Historical background and overall structure				
1.3.2 Anthracyclines as anticancer drugs				
1.3.3 Cardiotoxicity and Multi-drug resistance				
1.4 Biosynthesis of Anthracyclines	6			
1.4.1 Gene clusters from different Streptomyces strains	6			
1.4.2 Biosynthesis of polyketide core, aglycone				
1.4.2.1 Formation of the β -ketoacyl chain by PKS	9			
1.4.2.2 Aglycone biosynthesis by additional minPKS and post-	12			
PKS enzymes				
1.4.3 Modification of the aglycone moiety	13			
1.4.4 Glycosylation: Biosynthesis and transfer of sugar moieties				
1.5 Approaches for the production of new and modified anthracyclines	18			
1.5.1 Production of new and semisynthetic derivatives	18			
1.5.2 Combinatorial biosynthesis of hybrid antibiotics	20			
1.6 Aim of the thesis	21			
2 Results and discussion				
2.1 The polyketide cyclases: SnoaL and AknH				
2.1.1 Crystallization and structure determination of cyclases				
2.1.2 The tertiary and quaternary structure of SnoaL				
2.1.3 Ligand binding features and active site				
2.1.4 Structural features of SnoaL mutants				
2.1.5 AknH-NAME complex	29			
2.1.6 AknH-AKV complex	30			
2.1.7 The proposed reaction mechanism for the polyketide cyclases	32			
2.1.7.1 Aldol condensation in different aldolases	32			
2.1.7.2 Novel reaction mechanism proposed for SnoaL	34			
2.1.8 Product stereoselectivity of the polyketide cyclases	35			
2.1.9 Examples of divergent evolution towards different chemistry	36			
2.2 Aclacinomycin oxidoreductase (AknOx)				
2.2.1 Crystallization and structure determination of AknOx	40			
2.2.2 Twinning in AknOx crystals	40			
2.2.2.1 Twinning: definition and classification	40			
2.2.2.2 Twinning analysis in AknOx crystals	43			

	Page	
2.2.3 The overall fold of AknOx		
2.2.4 AknOx belongs to PCMH superfamily		
2.2.4.1 The conserved F-domain and FAD binding features in PCMH superfamily	44	
2.2.4.2 Diversity in the structure of the substrate binding domain is observed in PCMH superfamily	45	
2.2.5 FAD binding site in AknOx	45	
2.2.6 Covalent flavinylation in AknOx and other flavoenzymes	45	
2.2.6.1 Categories of covalent flavinylation observed in different flavoenzymes	46	
2.2.6.2 The flavinylation observed in AknOx and PCMH superfamily	47	
2.2.7 Ligand binding features and active site	48	
2.2.8 Catalytic mechanism of AknOx		
2.2.9 Comparison of catalytic properties in PCMH superfamily	51	
3 Conclusions	53	
3.1 SnoaL and AknH	53	
3.2 AknOx	54	
References	55	
Acknowledgements	72	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

SnoaL	Nogalonic acid methyl ester cyclase
AknH	Aklanonic acid methyl ester cyclase
AknOx	Aclacinomycin oxidoreductase
TcmI	Tetracenomycin F2 cyclase
РСМН	P-cresol methylhydroxylase
GOOX	Glucooligosaccharide oxidase
NAME	Nogalonic acid methyl ester
Nog	Nogalamycinone
AKV	Aklavinone
AAME	Aklanonic acid methyl ester
AclN	Aclacinomycin N
AclA	Aclacinomycin A
AclY	Aclacinomycin Y
DbrA/T/B	11-deoxy-β-rhodomycin A/T/B
FAD	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
FMN	Flavin mononucleotide
MAD	Multiple-wavelength anomalous dispersion
SIRAS	Single isomorphous replacement with
	anomalous scattering
SAD	Single-wavelength anomalous dispersion
MIRAS	Multiple isomorphous replacement with
	anomalous scattering
SIR	Single isomorphous replacement
MIR	Multiple isomorphous replacement
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
R _{svm}	$R_{svm} = \Sigma_{hkl}\Sigma Ii - \langle I \rangle / \Sigma_{hkl}\Sigma i \langle I \rangle$, where Ii is
5	the intensity measurement for a reflection
	and (I) is the mean value for this reflection.
R _{work}	$\Sigma F_{obs} - F_{calc} / \Sigma F_{obs} $; $ F_{obs} $ is the observed
	and $ F_{calc} $ is the calculated structure factor
	amplitudes
R _{free}	The same as R_{work} which is calculated for the
	set of reflections that is not used during the
	refinement

1 Introduction:

1.1 Antibiotics: definition and history

Antibiotics are natural or synthetic substances with antimicrobial properties. These compounds are used as bactericidal or bacteriostatic agents to treat different types of bacterial infections. The name 'antibiotic' is derived from Greek word "anti-bios", which means "against life" and the concept of antibiotic was first introduced in 1889 (Drews, 1999; Vuillemin, 1893). In 1949, Selman A. Waksman described antibiotics as "products of the metabolisms of microorganism, with molecular weight of less than 2000 Dalton" (Waksman, 1955). However, this definition was extended later due to the addition of many synthetic or semisynthetic substances with antibacterial properties in the list of conventional antibiotics.

The German scientist E. von Freudenreich isolated a product termed as pyocyanase from *Bacillus pyocyaneus* in 1888, which showed antibacterial properties against a multitude of disease-causing bacteria. Pyocyanase was the first natural antibiotic but it could not be used clinically due to its high toxicity and instability. In 1928, Alexander Fleming discovered penicillin which was isolated and purified in larger quantity and used for clinical trials by Howard Florey, Ernst Chain, and Norman Heatley in 1940. In the 1930s, René Dubos isolated gramicidin, the first clinically tested antibiotic agent from soil bacteria (Dubos and Hotchkiss, 1941; Hotchkiss and Dubos, 1940; Van Epps and Dubos, 2006). He also isolated tyrothricin from the same source, which was used against skin infections (Dubos and Hotchkiss, 1941; Hare, 1954; Hotchkiss and Dubos, 1940).

1.2 Polyketide antibiotics are secondary metabolites

Polyketide antibiotics belong to the class of secondary metabolites which are produced in the microorganisms at slow growth rate and their presence is not required for the growth of the producing organisms. The polyketides exhibit different types of activities including antibacterial (erythromycin, rifamycin B), anticancer (doxorubicin), anticholesterol (lovastatin) and immunosuppressant (rapamycin) (Strohl *et al.*, 1997). They are mainly produced by actinomycetes, specifically the *Streptomyces* (figure 1) a group of filamentous bacteria grown from soil.



Figure 1 : Streptomyces mycelium

Polyketides are synthesized by the successive condensation of different kinds of building units such as acetate, propionate, malonate or butyrate under the control of a multi-enzyme complex, Polyketide synthase (PKS). The resulting linear chain formed after several cycles of reactions carries unreduced keto groups attached to the β -carbons. The occurrence of these keto groups at many of the alternate carbon atoms gives rise to the name 'polyketide' for this class of compounds (Hopwood and Sherman, 1990).

Based on their diversity in structure and function, polyketides can be divided into three overall classes (Shen, 2003). The type I polyketides or complex polyketides are a group of non-aromatized compounds synthesized by type I PKS system, a large multifunctional protein complex carrying all the active sites required for polyketide carbon chain assembly (Katz, 1997). Some examples of most well-known complex polyketides include erythromycin and rapamycin (figure 2).



Figure 2: Structures of complex polyketide compounds

The type II iterative polyketide compounds, also known as aromatic polyketides, are mainly produced through the condensation of acetate groups, with the exception of the starter unit reactions, through several reaction steps catalyzed by type II PKS. During the biosynthesis of aromatic polyketides the acyl chain with desired length undergoes spontaneous or programmed folding to produce the aromatic structure (Katz, 1997). A number of common examples of aromatic polyketides are shown in figure 3.

Finally, the type III polyketides include chalcones and stilbenes in plants and polyhydroxy phenols in bacteria. Chalcone synthase and Stilbene synthase are comparatively small proteins with a single polypeptide chain and are involved in the biosynthesis of tetraketide intermediates followed by cyclization to produce the final products. (Austin *et al.*, 2004a; Austin *et al.*, 2004b; Ferrer *et al.*, 1999; Funa *et al.*, 1999)



Figure 3: Structures of some common aromatic polyketides.

1.3 Anthracyclines

1.3.1 Historical background and overall structure

In the 1950's, H. Brockman and his co-workers identified the "yellow-red or red, optically active dyes" which was named as anthracyclinone due to its resemblance to the anthraquinone chromophore (Brockmann, 1963; Brockmann and Bauer, 1950).

Since then, "anthracycline" has been used to refer to microbial products that contain an anthracyclinone moiety, typically as a glycoside (Brockmann, 1963). The basic scaffold of anthracycline is a 7,8,9,10-tetrahydro-5,12-napthacenequinone structure. The structural diversity is generated by different modifications of the tetracyclic polyketide core, 'aglycone' as well as differences in the glycosylation steps (figure 4). The different substitutions on the polyketide core are mainly due to the reactions catalyzed by tailoring enzymes which include hydroxylation, reduction, methylation and glycosylation (Niemi *et al.*, 2002; Schneider, 2005; Strohl *et al.*, 1989). The three-dimensional structures of several anthracyclines like Daunorubicin (Angiuli *et al.*, 1971), Nogalamycin (Arora, 1983) and aclacinomycin A and B (Yang and Wang, 1994) have been determined by X-ray crystallography or NMR.



Figure 4: The general structure of the aglycone moiety for most commonly used anthracyclines.Common substituents are listed to the left

The antibiotic properties of the *Streptomyces* organisms were first discovered in 1939 from soil specimen. (Brockmann and Bauer, 1950). Rhodomycin was the first anthracycline compound identified by H. Brockman (Brockmann, 1963). The discovery of Daunorubicin was made independently by the laboratories at Farmitalia, where it was named as daunomycin (Grein *et al.*, 1963) and at Rhône-Poulenc with the name rubidomycin (Dubost *et al.*, 1963). Another important anthracycline, Doxorubicin (Adriamycin) was first isolated from *Streptomyces peucetius* in 1967 by Farmitalia (Arcamone *et al.*, 1969a; Arcamone *et al.*, 1969b; Di Marco *et al.*, 1969). Nogalamycin, which differed structurally from other anthracyclines (Wiley *et al.*, 1977b; Wiley *et al.*, 1968) was first discovered by Bhuyan and Dietz in 1965 from *Streptomyces nogalater* (Bhuyan and Dietz, 1965) and studied extensively for anticancer properties by the Upjohn Company (Neil *et al.*, 1979). The organism had an

odor in culture of black walnuts and the name of the strains was derived from *nogal*, Spanish for walnut and *ater*, Latin for black or dark. Nogalamycin was evaluated as an anticancer agent 20 years ago, but was discarded as being too toxic for clinical use (McGovren et al., 1984; Weiss et al., 1986). However, several derivatives of nogalamycin have been shown to have improved activity (Wiley et al., 1977b). Aclacinomycins are second generation class II anthracycline antibiotics and the isolation of Aclacinomycin A and B was carried out by Sanraku-Ocean Co. and the Institute of Microbial chemistry in Tokyo (Oki et al., 1975). The class II anthracyclines are characterized by their higher ability to inhibit of nucleolar RNA syntheses which is mainly caused due to the presence of a carboxymethyl group at the C10 position of the aglycone and a di- or trisaccharide moiety in class II compounds (Crooke *et al.*, 1978; DuVernay et al., 1979a; DuVernay et al., 1979b) (figure 3). The trisaccharide aclacinomycin was used for clinical trial in 1978 (Umezawa, 1978a; Umezawa, 1978b) and showed significantly lower cardiotoxicity compared to doxorubicin (Oki, 1988). Since then, a large number of anthracycline compounds have been characterized and described in the literature (Kelly et al., 1977; Lown, 1993; Strohl et al., 1997)

1.3.2 Anthracyclines as anticancer drugs

Anthracyclines are widely used in clinical practice because of their anticancer properties. Doxorubicin is mainly used in the treatment of different kinds of solid tumors (Hortobagyi, 1997; Minotti *et al.*, 2004) while daunorubicin and aclacinomycin are used for treating acute leukemia (Fujii and Ebizuka, 1997; Oki *et al.*, 1975; Warrell, 1986; Wiernik and Dutcher, 1992). These compounds exhibit their effect against the cancer cells through several mechanisms.

Most of the antitumor activities of anthracyclines are caused by their strong but noncovalent intercalation with DNA (Brana *et al.*, 2001; Lown, 1993; Reinert, 1983). The 3D structures of daunorubicin, nogalamycin as well as aclacinomycin A and B in complex with DNA show that the aglycone moiety of these compounds is intercalated with DNA mainly through van-der Waals interactions as well as some direct or solvent mediated hydrogen bonds. The sugar moieties also affect the binding of molecules with the DNA (Arora, 1985b; Liaw *et al.*, 1989; Moore *et al.*, 1989; Quigley *et al.*, 1980; Wang *et al.*, 1987; Williams *et al.*, 1990; Yang and Wang, 1994) by binding to the minor groove (Pilch *et al.*, 1997).

Inhibition of the topoisomerase II by anthracyclines plays a major role in controlling the cell growth of the cancer cells. Some anthracycline compounds like doxorubicin, daunorubicin, epirubicin act as topoisomerase II poisons which stabilize the anthracycline-DNA-topoisomerase II ternary complex and inhibits the enzyme from resealing the DNA breakage (Capranico *et al.*, 1990; Jensen *et al.*, 1993; Minotti *et al.*, 2004; Sorensen *et al.*, 1992; Tewey *et al.*, 1984). The sugar moieties can play an important role in forming the topoisomerase II-DNA-drug complex, where the flexible

sugar parts can interact with the topoisomerase II, thus facilitating the complex formation (Pilch *et al.*, 1997). However, several other anthracyclines like aclacinomycins belong to a group of the topoisomerase II inhibitors which interferes with the binding of DNA to topoisomerase II and thus interferes the DNA cleavage by topoisomerase II (Larsen *et al.*, 2003; Sorensen *et al.*, 1992).

Anthracyclines are capable of generating free radicals which can cause direct injury to the cell membranes through a process known as lipid peroxidation (Chichuk *et al.*, 1999) as well as inactivation of receptors and membrane bound enzymes (Horenstein *et al.*, 2000; Straghan *et al.*, 1996). Moreover, the generation of free radicals is also the main cause of the cardiotoxicity, which will be discussed in the following chapter. Doxorubicin and many other genotoxic agents activate p53-DNA binding and p53 is suggested to interact with topoisomerase II and inhibits its ligase function, eventually amplifying the amount of formation of irreversible strand break (Cowell *et al.*, 2000; Dunkern *et al.*, 2003; Minotti *et al.*, 2004).

An alternative target for anthracycline activity was demonstrated by their properties to inhibit DNA helicase activity, reported by several laboratories (Bachur *et al.*, 1993; Bachur *et al.*, 1998; Bachur *et al.*, 1992; Gewirtz, 1999; Skladanowski and Konopa, 1994a; Skladanowski and Konopa, 1994b). This work has been further supported by Tuteja *et al* describing inhibition of both unwinding and ATPase activities of purified human helicase II (Tuteja *et al.*, 1997).

1.3.3 Cardiotoxicity and Multiple-drug resistance (MDR)

The anthracyclines exhibit severe side effects like cardiotoxicity. It has been described as the most serious side effect (Mordente *et al.*, 2001; Wojtacki, 1998; Wojtacki *et al.*, 2000) resulting from a combination of free radical production by the anthracycline metabolites and an unusual sensitivity of the mammalian heart to oxidative stress (Horenstein *et al.*, 2000; Jain, 2000).

The effectiveness of chemotherapy by anthracycline compounds is often limited by the multi drug resistance (MDR) which occurs as a result of resistant tumor recurrence after initially effective chemotherapy (Priebe and Perez-Soler, 1993). Most of the commonly used anthracyclines like doxorubicin or daunorubicin are involved in MDR which results in ineffective prolonged treatment.

1.4 Biosynthesis of Anthracyclines

1.4.1 Gene clusters from different Streptomyces strains

In 2002, the complete genome of the actinomycete *S. coelicolor* with the overall size of 8.6Mbp was sequenced. It contained about 8000 protein coding sequences and over 20 of the gene clusters (4.5% of the whole genome) were predicted to encode biosynthetic

enzymes for secondary metabolites (Bentley *et al.*, 2002). In another study, the genome sequenced from *S. avermitilis* contained 6% of the total genome responsible for secondary metabolite biosynthesis (Ikeda *et al.*, 2003).

Hopwood and Malpartida in 1985 performed the first successful cloning of an entire aromatic polyketide biosynthetic gene cluster to produce actinorhodin (Hopwood *et al.*, 1985). During the last 20 years, a large number of anthracycline biosynthetic genes were isolated from different types of *Streptomyces* gene clusters. The biosynthetic gene clusters of five common anthracyclines are listed in Table 1 which will be discussed in more detail in the following part.

The gene clusters for producing doxorubicin and daunorubicin are most extensively studied because of their wide-spread use as anticancer agents. The *dnr* biosynthetic genes were first cloned from *S. peucetius* in 1989 (Otten *et al.*, 1990; Stutzman-Engwall and Hutchinson, 1989), sequenced and most of the genes were characterized (Hutchinson, 1997). At the same time, William Strohl with his co-workers cloned, sequenced and characterized most of the *dau* biosynthetic genes from *Streptomyces sp. C5* (Dickens *et al.*, 1995; Strohl *et al.*, 1997; Ye *et al.*, 1994). The genes in the *dau/dnr* clusters from *S. peucetius*; *S. peucetius* subsp. *Caesius* ATCC27952, a producer of doxorubicin was isolated and some of the genes of this strain were characterized (Stutzman-Engwall and Hutchinson, 1989).

Rhodomycins, the first discovered anthracyclines are produced in *S. purpurascens (rdm* gene cluster). Because of the major similarity of these *rdm* genes with the *dau/dnr* cluster, they have been used extensively in combinatorial biosynthesis (Niemi and Mantsala, 1995; Niemi *et al.*, 1994).

Aclacinomycins are produced from several *Streptomyces galilaeus* strains and the published biosynthetic studies on aclacinomycins have been mainly performed with the *S. galilaeus* strain MA144-M1 (ATCC 31133) (Oki *et al.*, 1975). The organism produced a new water-insoluble pigment antibiotic complex named aclacinomycins, which was extracted and separated into thirteen yellow and seven red coloured components. All of them belong to the aklavinone and ε - pyrromycinone group of anthracyclines and aclacinomycin A and B were produced preferentially (Oki *et al.*, 1979a; Oki *et al.*, 1979b). Several of the biosynthetic genes with the gene prefix *akn* were cloned and characterized (Fujii and Ebizuka, 1997; Raty *et al.*, 2002; Raty *et al.*, 2000).

Nogalamycin (*sno* gene cluster) is produced by *Streptomyces nogalater* strain, ATCC2745 and the entire *sno* biosynthetic gene cluster has been cloned and sequenced (Torkkell *et al.*, 2001; Torkkell *et al.*, 1997; Ylihonko *et al.*, 1996b). Nogalamycin is in many ways unusual compared to other common anthracyclines. Nogalamycin biosynthesis starts from an acetate starter unit instead of the propionate group (Wiley *et al.*, 1978), starter unit for doxorubicin/daunorubicin biosynthesis.

Table 1: Biosynthetic gene clusters from different *Streptomyces* species upto the sugar modification steps are listed below. An extended list of genes with regulatory properties and unknown functionality are shown in Niemi *et al* (Niemi *et al.*, 2002). The gene clusters encoding the enzymes studied in this thesis are marked as **bold**. The data of this table is mainly derived from the review by Jarmo Niemi (Niemi *et al.*, 2002)

Biosynthetic		Sno	akn	dau/dnr	Rdm	function	
function							
Aglycone	1	snoa1	aknB	dpsA		Min PKS KS-α	
biosynthesis	2	snoa2	aknC	dpsB		Min PKS KS-β CLF	
	3	snoa3	aknD	dpsG		ACP for minPKS	
	4		aknE2	dpsC		propionate starter unit	
	5		aknF	dpsD		ACP acytranferase	
	6	snoaD	aknA	dpsE	rdmJ	ketoreductase	
	7	snoaE	aknE1	dpsF	rdmK	aromatase	
	8	snoaM	aknW	dpsY		cyclase	
	9	snoaB	aknX	dnrG/dauG		oxygenase	
Post-	10	snoaC	aknG	dnrC/dauC		methyltranferase	
Postketide	11	snoaL	aknH	dnrD/dauD	rdmA	cyclase	
biosynthesis	12	snoaF	aknU	dnrE/dauE	rdmL	ketoreductase	
Aglycone	13			dnrF/dauF	rdmE	C11 hydroxylase	
modification	14			dnrP/dauP	rdmC	C16 methylesterase	
	15			dnrK/dauK		4-O-	
						methyltransferase	
	16			doxA		P450 monooxygenase	
	17				rdmB	C10 hydroxylase	
	18	snoaL2	aclR			C1-hydroxylase	
Deoxy-sugar	19	snogJ	aknY	dnmL		TDP-glucosesynthase	
biosynthesis	20	snogK	aknR	dnmM		4,6-dehydratase	
	21	snogH	aknN	dnmT		2,3-dehydratase	
	22	snogI	aknZ	dnmJ		transaminase	
	23	snogF	aknL	dnmU		3,5-epimerase	
	24	snogG/	aknM/	dnmV		4-ketoreductase	
		snogC	aclM				
	25	snogA/	aknX2		rdmD	aminomethylase	
		snogX	/aclP				
	26		aknQ		rdmF	3-ketoreductase	
	27		aknP		rdmI	3-dehydratase	
	28	snogG2				C-methyltransferase	
	29	snogY				O-methyltransferase	
	30	snogL				O-methyltransferase	
	31	snogM				O-methyltransferase	
Glycosyl	32	snogE/	aknS	dnmS	rdmH	glycosyltransferase	
transfer		snogZ					
	33	snogD	aknK	dnrH/dauH		glycosyltransferase	
Sugar	34		aknOx			oxidoreductase	
modification							

Because of the difference in the starter unit, nogalamycin contains a methyl group at the C-9 position instead of an ethyl group (observed in doxorubicin or daunorubicin). Furthermore, the stereochemistry at the C-9 position is also opposite to that observed in most other anthracyclines (Arora, 1983; Torkkell *et al.*, 2000; Torkkell *et al.*, 2001). Nogalamycin contains an unusual amino sugar moiety, nogalamine, which is attached to C1 and C2 instead of C7 of the aglycone moiety (figure 3).

1.4.2 Biosynthesis of the polyketide core, aglycone

The biosynthesis of the polyketide core starts from one propionate (the starter unit) and nine malonates which are the primary precursors of the anthracyclinone part for most of the common anthracyclines (doxorubicin, daunorubicin, aclacinomycin), determined by isotope labeling experiments (Kitamura *et al.*, 1981; Paulick *et al.*, 1976). However, biosynthesis of some anthracyclines requires a different starter unit than propionate. For instance, nogalamycin and steffimycin biosynthesis starts with an acetate unit (Wiley *et al.*, 1978). Two genes [*dps*C (*akn*E2) and *dps*D (*akn*F) in table 1] from the anthracycline biosynthesis gene cluster have been shown to act as a 'fidelity factor' which plays an important role in selecting the starter unit as propionate (Bao *et al.*, 1999a; Bao *et al.*, 1999b; Grimm *et al.*, 1994; Rajgarhia *et al.*, 2001). It has been shown that the PKS in *S. peucetius* accepts both acetate and propionate in the absence of these genes but only propionate in their presence. This observation is also supported by the fact that the nogalamycin biosynthetic pathway uses acetate as the starter group and both the genes are absent in the *sno* gene cluster.

1.4.2.1 Formation of the β-ketoacyl chain by minPKS

The biosynthesis of the polyketide core is initiated by a sequence of reactions catalyzed by the minimal polyketide synthase II (PKS), the enzyme complex which catalyzes repeated Claisen condensations between acyl thioesters to build up the initial polyketide chain (Dreier and Khosla, 2000; Hutchinson, 1997; Katz and Donadio, 1993; Khosla *et al.*, 1999; McDaniel *et al.*, 1993; Strohl *et al.*, 1997). The minimal PKS mainly consists of four different proteins, an acyl carrier protein with pantetheinyl arm (ACP), a malonyl-CoA:ACP malonyltransferase (MAT), as well as, a heterodimeric complex of ketosynthase (KS) and chain length factor (CLF) (Dreier and Khosla, 2000; Fujii and Ebizuka, 1997; Hutchinson, 1997).

In the first step of the synthesis of the ketoacyl chain, ACP is malonylated by MAT and the malonate is attached to ACP through the pantetheinyl arm. The polyketide chain synthesis is then initiated when a malonyl-ACP encounters an unoccupied KS-CLF heterodimer (figure 5a). Decarboxylation of the malonyl group followed by the transfer of the resulting acetyl group to the active site of ketosynthase leads to priming of the synthase by an acetate group. The elongation step continues with a certain number of

extension cycles with malonyl units until full-length poly- β -ketoacyl chain is synthesized (figure 5b).

The termination of the keto-acylchain synthesis is promoted by the release of the KS-CLF heterodimer from ACP-acylchain part (figure 5c) which is followed by the concomitant cyclization of the released chain (Dreier and Khosla, 2000).

During the last few years, several three dimensional structures of minPKS enzymes were determined mainly from the actinorhodin biosynthetic pathway which provided specific information about the structural and mechanistic features of these enzymes.

The structure of ACP was determined from several aromatic polyketide biosynthetic pathways (Crump *et al.*, 1997; Findlow *et al.*, 2003; Li *et al.*, 2003). The crystal structure of MAT from *Streptomyces coelicolor* contained a large domain with α/β hydrolase fold and a smaller domain with a ferredoxin-like fold. The enzyme uses a Ser-His catalytic pair for transferring the malonyl unit (Keatinge-Clay *et al.*, 2003). A crucial step towards understanding the mechanism of the biosynthesis of the ketoacyl



B.





Figure 5: The biosynthesis of the polyketide core. The biosynthesis catalyzed by PKS is shown as (a) initiation of the polyketide chain biosynthesis; (b) elongation of the chain and (c) the termination of the reaction cycle after the polyketide chain with target length is reached. The KS-CLF dimer is shown as the hexameric shape and the ACP is shown as the circle. This figure is adapted from Dreier and Khosla (Dreier and Khosla, 2000). (d) Subsequent minPKS and post-PKS reaction steps are shown which lead to the formation of the aglycone moiety.

chain was revealed from the structural investigation of the KS-CLF heterodimer. The structures of KS and CLF showed a typical thiolase fold (Keatinge-Clay *et al.*, 2004). The structural and functional analysis of the KS-CLF dimer confirms the role of KS which mainly catalyzes the chain initiation and elongation steps. At the interface the dimer contains an amphipathic channel which allows maintaining the linear form of the chain during elongation and the desired length of the acyl chain is mainly controlled by the architecture of the channel (Keatinge-Clay *et al.*, 2004) (figure 6a).

1.4.2.2. Aglycone biosynthesis by additional minPKS and post-PKS enzymes

In order to process the nascent chain to form specific polyaromatic compounds, additional PKS subunits are required, which include a ketoreductase (KR), aromatase (ARO) and cyclase (CYC). Ketoreductase reduces the keto group at the C9 of the β -ketoacyl chain, which is numbered as C2 after the aglycone moiety is formed (figure 1 in paper 2). The first aromatic ring is formed by an aromatase (ARO), which is followed by the cyclization of the second and third aromatic ring catalyzed by a cyclase (CYC) (Hautala *et al.*, 2003; Hopwood, 1997; Khosla *et al.*, 1999). Oxygenation at C-12 produces aklanonic acid/nogalonic acid, which is the end product of the PKS pathway and the first isolable intermediate (Kantola *et al.*, 2000; Strohl *et al.*, 1997; Vetrivel and Dharmalingam, 2001; Wagner *et al.*, 1984) (figure 5d).



Figure 6: Structures of enzymes from minPKS and additional PKS.

- (a) The heterodimer of the KS-CLF. The amphipathic tunnel is marked by a grey-shaped ellipsoid. This figure is adopted from Keatinge-Clay *et al.* (Keatinge-Clay *et al.*, 2004).
- (b) The crystal structure of actIII KR. The bound NADPH and active site tetrad are shown in dark and light grey respectively.

The structure analysis of actIII, a type II polyketide ketoreductase from *Streptomyces* coelicolor confirmed that the enzyme belongs to the short chain reductase (SDR) superfamily (Hadfield et al., 2004; Jornvall et al., 1995; Korman et al., 2004; Oppermann et al., 2003) (figure 6b). The ketoreductases from different aromatic polyketide biosynthetic pathways show quite high sequence identity of 39-80% suggesting that they share the same fold. The catalytic site of act KR is comprised of an Asn114-Ser144-Tyr157-Lys161 tetrad, conserved in this family suggesting a similar catalytic mechanism for this class of enzymes (Korman et al., 2004). The structure of a priming ketosynthase, ZhuH from the biosynthetic pathway of the polyketide R1128 was studied in complex with the priming substrate acetyl-CoA. The overall thiolase fold of the structure (Pan et al., 2002) was similar to that observed in many other ketosynthases (Davies et al., 2000; Ferrer et al., 1999; Huang et al., 1998; Keatinge-Clay et al., 2004; Moche et al., 2001; Olsen et al., 1999). The reactions catalyzed by ketoreductase/aromatase/cyclase in the biosynthetic pathway of actinorhodin are followed by a monooxygenase, ActVA-Orf6 (Sciara et al., 2003) which exhibits 22-25% sequence identity with AknX or SnoaB (Table 1) from anthracycline biosynthesis. Details about the structure and catalytic properties of ActVA-orf6 will be discussed in the chapter 2.1.9.

The post PKS reactions (figure 5d) start with a methyltransferase (MET), which converts the tricyclic acid to the corresponding methyl ester. This reaction is a prerequisite for the aldol condensation closing the fourth ring catalyzed by a cyclase. The first asymmetric center present in the anthracyclinone is produced during this reaction. The *sno* cyclase (SnoaL) produces the 9S, 10R configuration whereas the *akn/dau/dnr* cyclases, AknH, DauD and DnrD produce 9R 10R isomer (Kendrew *et al.*, 1999; Torkkell *et al.*, 2000). Two of the cyclases, SnoaL and AknH will be discussed in detail in the following chapters. The aglycone biosynthesis is completed by the ketoreductase which produces the aklavinone/nogalamycinone with 7S configuration at C7.

1.4.3 Modification of the aglycone moiety

The structural diversity of the aglycone is generated by modification reactions which are carried out by different tailoring enzymes. Most of the post modification of the aglycone core requires a glycosylated substrate (Fujii and Ebizuka, 1997) with a few exceptions. One of these is the hydroxylation at the C1 position of the unglycosylated aglycone core of nogalamycin, nogalamycinone (Torkkell *et al.*, 2001) catalyzed by the C1-hydroxylase, Snoal2 (figure 7-left). This enzyme showed no sequence or structural similarity to either FAD or P450 monooxygenases, which are usual hydroxylases in antibiotic biosynthetic pathways (Beinker *et al.*, 2006; Niemi *et al.*, 2002). Similar hydroxylation at the C1 position has been observed in *S. galilaeus*, most likely carried out by AclR, a homolog to SnoaL (Beinker *et al.*, 2006; Oki, 1984; Strohl *et al.*, 1997).

In the biosynthetic pathway of rhodomycin, aklavinone is converted to ε -rhodomycinone by another hydroxylase RdmE or Aklavinone-11-hydroxylase (figure 7-right) which is a FAD dependent enzyme (Hong *et al.*, 1994; Niemi *et al.*, 2002; Niemi *et al.*, 1999).



Figure 7: Some of the modification reactions of the unglycosylated aglycone are shown. Nogalamycinone converted to 1-hydroxy-nogalamycinone is shown in the left reaction. To the right, the reaction shows the 11-hydroxylation of aklavinone producing ε -rhodomycinone. The reaction to the right is FAD dependent whereas that to the left is not.

The modification of the glycosylated aglycone starts by the action of a methylesterase that is encoded by the genes dau/dnrP or rdmC (figure 8). These enzymes catalyze the removal of the methoxy group at the C15 position of the aglycone moieties. The free carboxylic acid is relatively unstable and decarboxylation occurs spontaneously in aqueous solution (Tanaka et al., 1983). The crystal structure of RdmC (Jansson et al., 2003b) contained two domains and the larger catalytic domain has a α/β hydrolase fold, typical for esterases, lipases and hydrolases (Ollis et al., 1992). This enzyme catalyzes a hydroxylation reaction via a Ser-His-Asp catalytic-triad (Jansson et al., 2003b). dnrK/dauK encodes for an O-methyltransferase (Dickens et al., 1995; Madduri and Hutchinson, 1995a; Miyamoto et al., 2000; Niemi et al., 2002) which produces the Omethyl functionality in doxorubicin/daunorubicin biosynthesis (figure 8). A homologous gene, rdmB is present in the corresponding position in the rdm gene cluster. RdmB acts as a hydroxylase and catalyzes the addition of the hydroxyl group at the C10 position of 15-demethoxyaclacinomycin (Niemi et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2000). DnrK/DauK and RdmB share 55% sequence homology (Dickens et al., 1995; Madduri et al., 1993) but RdmB showed no methyltransferase activity either in the original strain S. purpurascens or in the recombinant RdmB producing strains like



Figure 8: The modifications of postglycosylated aglycones are shown sequentially from different *Streptomyces* species: the pathway located at the left downstream from the aklavinone/nogalamycinone describes the aclacinomycin production in *S. galilaeus*; the middle part shows the β -rhodomycin production from *S. purpurascens*; the part to the right shows the reaction for doxorubicin and daunorubicin production in *S. peucetius* and *S. sp C5*. The final products from different pathways are underlined.

S. galilaeus (Wang *et al.*, 2000). The crystal structures of RdmB and DnrK as binary and ternary complexes have been determined recently which showed very similar structural folds for these two enzymes. However, the structural and functional investigation of RdmB clearly revealed a particularly striking example of divergent evolution in an enzyme family (Jansson *et al.*, 2005; Jansson *et al.*, 2004; Jansson *et al.*, 2003a). The last three reactions in doxorubicin biosynthesis are catalyzed by the gene product of *dox*A which is a cytochrome P450 monooxygenase. DoxA catalyzes the oxidation of the 13-positon to a hydroxyl and eventually to a keto group, as well as converting the 14-position into a hydroxyl functionality (Niemi *et al.*, 2002; Walczak *et al.*, 1999) (figure 8).

1.4.4: Glycosylation: biosynthesis and tranfer of the sugar moieties

Anthracycline compounds contain different sugar moieties which are usually attached to the C7 or C10 position (also C1 and C2 in case of nogalamycin) of the aglycone core (Lown, 1993). These sugars are attached by the tailoring enzymes of the biosynthetic pathways. Glycosylation of anthracyclines is required for antimicrobial and antitumor activity, specifically the presence of an amino group in the polyketide core or in the sugar moiety is important for the biological activity of anthracyclines (Fujii and Ebizuka, 1997).

Glucose is the source of the deoxysugar moieties found in anthracyclines. The sugar units are mainly synthesized as thymidine diphospho (dTDP) derivatives (Niemi *et al.*, 2002). A number of genes are involved in the biosynthesis of these glycosyl units and most of them are cloned and characterized (Niemi *et al.*, 2002; Trefzer *et al.*, 1999) (Table 1). The biosynthesis process starts with the reactions catalyzed by dTDP-glucose thymidylyltransferase and two dehydratases which produce a common intermediate (dTDP-4, 5-ketoglucose) (Draeger *et al.*, 1999) for all the amino sugars and the neutral sugar for aclacinomycin and rhodomycin biosynthetic pathways (figure 9). The three dimensional structure of dTDP-glucose 4, 6 dehydratase from *S. venezuelae* was determined in 2004 (Allard *et al.*, 2004) and this enzyme is homologous to the 4, 6 dehydratase involved in sugar biosynthesis for anthracycline compounds (Niemi *et al.*, 2002). Different amino (with primary or secondary amine) and neutral sugars (no amino group) are synthesized from the intermediate, dTDP-4, 5-ketoglucose by the action of several enzymes, like epimerases, ketoreductases, aminotransferases, and methylases (in aclacinomycin and rhodomycin biosynthesis) (Niemi *et al.*, 2002).

The neutral sugar, nogalose, is however synthesized from an earlier intermediate (dTDP-4-keto-6-deoxyglucose) and three methyltransferases are involved for the O-methylation in nogalose (Niemi *et al.*, 2002; Torkkell *et al.*, 2001) (figure 9).



Figure 9: Biosynthesis of amino sugar and neutral sugar moieties in different anthracycline biosynthetic pathways. The biosynthetic enzymes are numbered and listed according to Table 1. The final sugar moieties for different anthracyclines are underlined.

The dTDP-sugar is attached to the aglycone or a previously attached sugar unit by a glycosyltransferase. Two glycosyl transferases (GTF) are present in the *dau/dnr* and *akn* clusters (Olano *et al.*, 1999; Raty *et al.*, 2000; Scotti and Hutchinson, 1996), whereas the *sno* cluster contains three GTF (Oki, 1977; Olano *et al.*, 1999; Scotti and Hutchinson, 1996; Torkkell *et al.*, 2001; Torkkell *et al.*, 1997) (Table 1). TDP-daunosamine and rhodosamine are the sugar derivatives attached to the C-7 of the aglycone (Oki, 1977; Olano *et al.*, 1999; Scotti and Hutchinson, 1996) during doxorubicin/daunorubicin and rhodomycin biosynthetic pathway respectively. Aclacinomycins contain a trisaccharide moiety attached at the same position as in doxorubicin /daunorubicin and the first triglycoside product (aclN) contains a rhodosamine, a deoxyfucose and a rhodinose (Oki *et al.*, 1975; Ylihonko *et al.*, 1994). Nogalamycin has a different glycosylation profile considering the presence of an amino sugar, nogalamine connected to the oxygen atoms at C1 and C2 of the aglycone by an unusual carbon-carbon bond (Torkkell *et al.*, 2001) as well as a neutral sugar, nogalose to the C-7 position of the aglycone (Niemi *et al.*, 2002).

In the aclacinomycin biosynthetic pathway, the postglycosylation modification is carried out by an oxidoreductase (AknOx) which modifies the terminal sugar of the trisaccharide moiety from rhodinose to cinerulose A and then to L-aculose (Madduri and Hutchinson, 1995b; Yoshimoto *et al.*, 1979).

1.5 Approaches for the production of new and modified anthracyclines

Anthracycline antibiotics have a wide range of clinical and commercial significance because of their antineoplastic properties. However, their use in the treatment of cancer exhibits severe side effects. The compounds mainly cause cardiotoxicity by generating free radicals (Mordente *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, limitation for using anthracyclines in clinical practice is also caused by the emerging resistance to these anti-cancer drugs which ultimately leads to treatment for a prolonged time (Priebe and Perez-Soler, 1993). Several chemical and genetic approaches have been used in order to produce new and modified anthracyclines which share the same activity as the parent compound at a more efficient level, with less toxicity, absence of cross resistance or activity against tumor cells insensitive to the parent drugs (Wadler *et al.*, 1986). Some of the most commonly used approaches are described as follows.

1.5.1 Production of new and semisynthetic derivatives

During last 20 years, more than 1000 different anthracycline analogues have been obtained in several ways, such as isolating from soil samples or rational synthesis. A number of these compounds have been successfully used for chemotherapy (Weiss *et*

al., 1986). Carminomycin was isolated from the mycelia of a new actinomycete species, *Actinomadura carminata* in 1980s (Debusscher *et al.*, 1985; Gause *et al.*, 1974; Monneret, 2001) and used as one of the commercially available chemotherapeutic drugs. In another approach to produce new compounds, the parent *Streptomyces* organisms were subjected to various techniques for inducing mutations and genetic code modifications. Doxorubicin is a good example of this approach, because it is produced from a mutant strain of the daunorubicin producing *Streptomyces* (Ghione, 1975).



Figure 10: Structure of several semisynthetic derivatives of anthracycline compounds.

A number of structurally modified compounds are also produced based on the chemical modification of the most commonly used anthracyclines, doxorubicin, daunorubicin or nogalamycin (Cassinelli *et al.*, 1984; Ferrari *et al.*, 1984; Muggia and Green, 1991). Epirubicin (4' epidoxorubicin) (Cassinelli *et al.*, 1984; Ferrari *et al.*, 1984; Wadler *et al.*, 1986) and Idarubicin (4-demethoxydaunorubicin) (Arcamone *et al.*, 1976; Cersosimo, 1992) (figure 10) are some of the clinically useful semisynthetic derivatives, which exhibit increased antitumor efficiency compared to their parent compounds with less cardiotoxicity. Menogaril, a derivative of nogalamycin (the amino sugar is attached to the ring A instead of ring D) (Wiley *et al.*, 1977a) (figure 10) showed high cytotoxic effect on the leukemia cell-line with reduced side effects (Dorr *et al.*, 1986; Schrijvers *et al.*, 2002) and proceeded upto phase II clinical trial (McGovren *et al.*, 1984; Obasaju *et al.*, 2001).

1.5.2 Combinatorial biosynthesis of hybrid antibiotics

Combinatorial biosynthesis of 'hybrid antibiotics' is a process which involves interchanging secondary metabolism genes between antibiotic-producing organisms to create an unnatural or 'mixed' gene combination. This approach has been studied extensively for the anthracycline biosynthesis during the last two decades (Hopwood, 1993; Hopwood *et al.*, 1985; Strohl and Connors, 1992). Hybrid antibiotics are the result of the combinatorial biosynthesis using genes from two or more antibiotic producing strains that produce structurally related antibiotics.

These compounds usually combine the structural features from more than one antibiotic that are not produced by the same organism (Hopwood, 1981; Hopwood *et al.*, 1985). The production of hybrid antibiotics was first reported by Hopwood *et al* in 1985. Actinorhodin biosynthetic genes from *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2) were transferred into the medermycin producer *Streptomyces sp.* AM-7161 resulting in the production of mederrhodins A and B (Hopwood *et al.*, 1985; Omura *et al.*, 1986).

In efforts to produce hybrid metabolites, the early biosynthetic genes for actinorhodin biosynthesis were cloned into different anthracycline producing *Streptomyces* strains which resulted into the production of a new compound aloesaponarin II (Strohl and Connors, 1992).

The tailoring enzymes of the anthracycline biosynthetic pathways were also targeted for the combinatorial biosynthesis approach. Streptomyces galilaeus has been selected as an ideal host for this study because aklavinone, the aglycone moiety from this strain is a precursor of aglycones in most of the anthracycline biosynthetic pathways (Eckardt and Wagner, 1988; Niemi et al., 1994). Therefore, this compound is acceptable as a substrate for the aglycone modifying enzymes from other biosynthetic gene clusters. The production of hybrid antibiotics by using the tailoring enzymes were first applied by transforming the gene cluster for the late acting enzymes from *Streptomyces purpurascens* to *Streptomyces galilaeus* resulting in some aclacinomycin-type products with a modified rhodomycin-type aglycone and glycosylation profile determined by the host, S. galilaeus. The glycosides of 10-demethoxycarbonylaklavinone and 11-deoxyand three glycosides β-rhodomycinone were isolated as novel hybrids (DbrA/DbrT/DbrB) of the latter aglycone showed cytotoxic activity against L1210 mouse leukemia cells (Jansson et al., 2004; Niemi et al., 1994).

In another attempt to produce hybrid compounds, the early biosynthetic genes from *Streptomyces nogalater* were introduced into the host strain of *S. lividans* TK24 and the resulting products exhibited the structural features that could be associated with either parent strain (Kunnari *et al.*, 1999; Ylihonko *et al.*, 1996a). A successful example of the hybrid approach was the transformation of the *S. galilaeus* ATCC31133 with a plasmid containing the aklavinone-11-hydroxylase gene (*dnrF*) from *S. peucetius* which resulted in a derivative of aclacinomycin A hydroxylated at the position C11(Hwang *et al.*, 1995; Kim *et al.*, 1996).

Redesigning of the biosynthetic enzymes is another approach which was considered important for producing modified compounds. It has been shown that bacterial aromatic PKSs can be engineered to synthesize rationally modified aromatic polyketide (Hutchinson and Colombo, 1999; Lee *et al.*, 2005b; Metsa-Ketela *et al.*, 2003; Shen *et al.*, 1999; Tang *et al.*, 2004). Recently, a non-acetyl primed analogue of aklanonic acid was produced by an engineered bimodular aromatic polyketide synthase (Lee *et al.*, 2005b).

1.6. Aim of the thesis

The extensive use of anthracyclines in oncology makes them clinically very important. In order to produce modified anthracyclines with improved toxicological activities, precise knowledge about the mechanism of the biosynthetic enzymes is necessary. Investigation of the three dimensional structure can provide specific insights about the catalytic properties and substrate specificity of the enzymes which can be used for further approaches for redesigning the biosynthetic enzymes in the near future.

The aim of this thesis is focused mainly on structural studies of several biosynthetic enzymes by X-ray crystallography. The structural investigation of the enzymes provided necessary information for understanding their catalytic properties and mechanism of action. The first part of the thesis describes the structural and functional features of two cyclases from two different *Streptomyces* species. The following part is focused on the crystal structure and functional aspects of an oxidoreductase from the aclacinomycin biosynthetic pathway.

2 Results and Disscussion

2.1 The polyketide cyclases: SnoaL and AknH : (Paper 1, 2 and 3)

SnoaL (Raty et al., 2002; Torkkell et al., 2000) and AknH (Fujii and Ebizuka, 1997; Kantola et al., 2000; Raty et al., 2002) are members of a polyketide cyclase family which are involved in the last ring-closure step of the tetracyclic ring system of the polyketide core in nogalamycin (S. nogalater) and aclacinomycin (S. galilaeus) biosynthetic pathways respectively (figure 1 in paper 2). SnoaL converts nogalonic acid methyl ester (NAME) to nogalaviketone while AknH uses aklanonic acid methyl ester (AAME) as substrate and produces aklaviketone. These enzymes consist of 144 amino acid residues with a molecular weight of 20 KDa and share 67% sequence identity with each other as well as >60% identity with other corresponding polyketide cyclases from doxorubicin (DnrD) (Kendrew et al., 1999), daunorubicin (DauD) (Dickens et al., 1995) and rhodomycin (RdmA) (Niemi and Mantsala, 1995) biosynthetic pathways. However, the products have differences in their C-9 stereochemistry and these fourth-ring closing polyketide cyclases are responsible for this stereoselectivity of the products (Kendrew et al., 1999). SnoaL is unique in this class of polyketide cyclases because the product of the SnoaL catalyzed reaction has a 9S,10R stereochemistry whereas AknH as well as most other characterized members of this polyketide cyclase family produces 9R,10R stereochemistry of the product (Torkkell et al., 2000). However, besides nogalamycin, steffimycin is also known to have 9S configuration at the C9 position (Arora, 1985a) and recently the biosynthetic gene cluster of steffimycin has been characterized (Gullon et al., 2006).

Understanding of these polyketide cyclases in the biosynthesis of aromatic polyketide biosynthesis is important for the rational designing of novel compounds because the timing and regio-or stereoselectivity of cyclization is a significant determinant of the final natural products. However, before the work described in this thesis, not much was known about the functional properties of these polyketide cyclases, i.e. their catalytic properties as well as determinants of stereo-or regiospecificity during the cyclization reactions.

2.1.1 Crystallization and structure determination of cyclases

Crystallization trials of SnoaL with the substrate NAME and data collection statistics were described in paper 1. For phase determination, single isomorphous replacement with anomalous scattering (SIRAS) based on a uranium derivative of SnoaL was used. Information about the position of the heavy atoms was obtained by inspecting the difference Patterson map and two uranium ions were found, bound to the side chains of Glu6 and Asp30 in SnoaL. The electron density map to 1.87Å resolution was used for

automatic model building (Perrakis *et al.*, 1999) which allowed building an almost complete (139 out of 144 amino acids) protein model. The diffraction data from the high-pH crystal form to 1.35Å resolution was used during the refinement process (paper 2).

Two mutants of SnoaL (Asp121Asn and Gln105Ala) were crystallized in different conditions compared to the native one. Crystals were obtained in a PEG/ION screen which uses 20% PEG3350 as precipitant with different salts. Conditions with 0.2M tri potassium citrate monohydrate and 0.2M lithium chloride anhydrous resulted in crystals from Asp121Asn and Gln105Ala mutants respectively. Diffraction data were collected from these crystals to 1.63Å (Asp121Asn) and 1.9Å resolution (Gln105Ala) respectively after flash-freezing with 25%PEG550 cryo-solution. Details about the data collection statistics are listed in Table 2.

 Table 2 : Data collection statistics of two SnoaL mutants (Asp121Asn and Gln105Ala)

 and the SnoaL-nogalamycinone (Nog) complex.

Parameters	Asp121Asn	Gln105Ala	SnoaL-Nog
Beam line	I-711	I-711	I-711
Wavelength (Å)	1.094	1.094	1.094
Resolution (Å)	27.19-1.63	29.32-1.9	22.72-1.8
Space group	I222	P2 ₁ 2 ₁ 2	1222
Unit cell parameters (Å)			
а	64.94	64.09	69.24
b	71.93	68.45	72.17
с	68.98	72.61	65.37
No. of observations	113286	161522	112501
No. of unique reflections	19725	23282	15492
R_{sym} (%) ^a	4.1 (13.4)	5.5(19.9)	6.3(10.9)
Completeness (%)	96.3(96.3)	99.9(100)	99.8(99.8)
Mean I/ σ (I)	15.4 (10.9)	21.5(8.0)	27.5(14.9)
Wilson B factor (Å ²)	16.31	19.56	16.11

In an attempt to understand the substrate specificity of SnoaL, it was co-crystallized with nogalamycinone (Nog) (figure 16), which is the aglycone moiety from the nogalamycine biosynthetic pathway. The crystal was flash-frozen with 25% ethylene glycol and a dataset was collected to 1.8Å resolution (Statistics are given in Table 2). The structural features of this complex are discussed in the chapter 2.1.6.

The structure of mutants and the SnoaL-Nog complex were determined by molecular replacement using the structure of SnoaL-NAME complex as the template. Details about the refinement statistics are shown in Table 3.

Parameters	SnoaL Asp121Asn	SnoaL Gln105Ala	SnoaL-Nog
Resolution (Å)	24.89-1.63	29.32-1.9	49.93-1.8
R _{work} (%)	17.8	18.7	18.8
R _{free} (%)	20.6	23.5	22.8
Protein atoms	1203	2382	1189
Ligand atoms	0	75	29
Water molecules	193	293	142
B factor ($Å^2$)			
Protein atoms	14.43	19.94	15.29
Ligand atoms	0.0	38.72	27.11
Solvent	32.0	35.73	25.31
Deviations from ideals			
(r.m.s.d.)			
Bond length (Å)	0.012	0.011	0.011
Bond Angle (°)	1.38	1.34	1.36
Ramachandan Plot (%)			
Most favoured region	89.2	87.3	87.4
Additional allowed region	9.2	11.0	11.0
Generously allowed region	0.8	0.8	0.8
Disallowed region	0.8	0.8	0.8

Table 3 : Data refinement statistics of SnoaL mutants and SnoaL-nogalamycinone complex.

AknH can also use NAME, the substrate of SnoaL but produces auraviketone with C9-R stereochemistry (Kantola *et al.*, 2000). AknH was therefore co-crystallized with NAME and aklavinone and the datasets were collected to 2.1Å and 1.9Å resolution respectively. The structure of the AknH-NAME complex was determined by molecular replacement using the SnoaL structure as template and the AknH-NAME structure was further used to obtain the structure of the AknH-aklavinone complex (paper 3).

2.1.2 The tertiary and quaternary structure of SnoaL

The monomer of SnoaL belongs to the $\alpha+\beta$ class of structures. The core of the monomer contains a central five-stranded mixed β sheet. Besides B1, the N-terminal part (residue ranges 2-26 and 34-59) consists of four helices, two α -helices and two 3₁₀ helices. The curved central β -sheet and three N-terminal helices (H1, H2 and H4) form a barrel-like structure (figure 11). The polypeptide chain followed by B5 folds into one C-terminel α -helix (H5) which is a part of the $\alpha+\beta$ barrel and is extended with a long loop region.



Figure 11: The tertiary structure of SnoaL. The bound ligand is shown as ball-stick representation

The quaternary structure of SnoaL is a tetramer both in crystal-packing and in solution. In the crystal, the tetramer is formed as a dimer of dimers. Two monomers form a tightinterface dimer and are related by one of the crystallographic two-fold symmetry axis. Two of these dimers form another dimer interface along another two-fold axis, thus generating the tetramer (figure 5 in paper 2).

The formation of the dimer also allows complete burial of the active sites with the bound ligand totally inaccessible to the solvent. Therefore, this feature would strongly suggest a conformational change during the binding or release of the substrate/product. A loop region between β 3 and β 4 and the C-terminal loop region (figure 11) was suggested as the most probable sites for conformational change during ligand binding.

2.1.3 Ligand binding features and active site

SnoaL was co-crystallized with the substrate NAME, but the electron density map clearly showed the presence of a closed ring compound which indicated that cyclization of the substrate took place during the crystallization. The ring A of the compound was also observed in a planar conformation with the absence of the hydroxyl group, which resembles a product derivative bound in SnoaL, formed upon the elimination of water from nogalaviketone (figure 16). This red-coloured dehydrated product analogue was observed previously during the reaction studies with DnrD (polyketide cyclase from doxorubicin biosynthetic pathway), which is a homolog of SnoaL (Kendrew *et al.*, 1999; Kunnari *et al.*, 1999). The colour of the SnoaL crystals being dark-pink instead of the expected yellow (colour of NAME/nogalaviketone) further indicates the presence of the dehydrated compound.

In the structure, the ligand was bound in the interior of the $\alpha+\beta$ barrel, that mainly consists of hydrophobic residues. The protein-ligand interactions in SnoaL are mainly dominated by van der Waals and hydrophobic interactions (figure 7 in paper 2). H-bonding interactions with the product derivative include only one direct interaction with Gln105 and two water-mediated H-bonds to Thr128 and His39. Two residues from the second monomer of the tight-interface dimer also participate in ligand binding through water mediated H-bonding bridges (figure 7 in paper 2).

The side chain of Asp121, invariant in this class of polyketide cyclases, was located in the vicinity of the C9 carbon of the ring A and was proposed as the main catalytic residue. Asp121 was H-bonded with Asn33 which might be involved in maintaining the specific conformation of Asp121 during catalysis. This proposal was further emphasized by modeling nogalaviketone in the structure which clearly showed Asp121 being ideally positioned to form H-bonding interaction with the C9 hydroxyl group (figure 12).



Figure 12: The modeled nogalaviketone, product of SnoaL is modeled in the SnoaL active site. The product is shown is grey and the active site residues are shown in black.

Gln105 was also considered as an important residue in the active site due to its direct interaction with the bound ligand. The H-bonding bridges observed among Gln105-His107-His119 might be necessary to stabilize the specific conformation of Gln105 (figure 12).

2.1.4 Structural features of the SnoaL mutants:

The structure of the SnoaL Asp121Asn mutant was determined to 1.63Å resolution. The overall structural fold and the active site conformation was the same compared to the native structure. Although this mutant was co-crystallized with NAME, no density for the bound ligand was observed in the active site (figure 13), indicating a lower affinity of the mutant for the substrate/product.



Figure 13: Electron density of the active site SnoaL Asp121Asn mutant.

The structure of the Gln105Ala mutant to 1.9Å resolution contains two molecules in the asymmetric unit, which were arranged as a dimer. The quaternary structure of Gln105Ala is a tetramer as observed in the wild-type SnoaL and it is formed by generating the symmetry-related molecules in the crystal packing. The dimer in the

asymmetric unit resembles the tight-interface dimer part of the tetramer. The ligand was bound as the dehydrated product derivative in both molecules. However, investigation of the ligand binding site in these two molecules showed significant differences in the loop region including residue 38-41. In molecule A, His39 was H-bonded directly to the O21 atom of the ligand. It is noteworthy that His39 was involved in ligand binding in the wild-type structure through water-mediated H-bridges rather than direct binding (figure 14a). Due to the conformational changes in the molecule B, His39 is pointing in the opposite direction from the ligand and the space between the loop region and ligand is filled by a PEG molecule from the crystallization condition (figure 14b) which was H-bonded to the O22 of the ligand. The altered conformation of the His39 in molecule B and the presence of the PEG can be described as a crystal artifact.



Figure 14a and 14b: The ligand binding site of SnoaL Gln105Ala mutant in two molecules in the asymmetric unit. The native SnoaL (black) superimposed on molecule A of SnoaL Gln105Ala mutant (grey) is shown in 14a. The ligand and His39 are shown with same colour representation. Figure 14b shows the ligand binding site in molecule B. His39 as well as ligand are shown in dark grey whereas the PEG molecule is shown in light grey.

2.1.5 AknH-NAME complex

The overall fold of the AknH structure is very similar to that of SnoaL. The only structural differences observed were in two loop regions which are the loop comprising residues 40-43 between H3 and H4 and the C-terminal loop (figure 4 in paper 3). The quaternary structure of AknH is a tetramer with the same arrangement as reported for the SnoaL tetramer (figure 3b in paper 3). The electron density for the bound ligand represented the dehydrated product analog as observed in SnoaL which was mainly bound through hydrophobic interactions as well as three water mediated H-bonding bridges (figure 15). However, comparison with the SnoaL ligand binding site reveals a completely different orientation of the bound ligand in AknH in the same hydrophobic pocket (figure 4 in paper 3). Ring A is located far away from the proposed active site residues Asp121, Gln105, His107 (figure 15) which were crucial for catalysis according to the mutagenesis of these residues (Table 1 in paper 3) Therefore, the ligand binding mode in the AknH-NAME complex appears not catalytically competent and is considered as an artifact after the ring closure/dehydration step.



Figure 15: Ligand binding site of the SnoaL-NAME complex. The residues from the adjacent monomer are underlined.
2.1.6 AknH-AKV (aklavinone) complex

In an attempt to study the active site of AknH more extensively, as well as, to entrap a compound with the C9 hydroxyl group, the structure of AknH in complex with aklavinone (AKV) was determined. Aklavinone is the aglycone moiety from *Streptomyces galilaeus* which has a hydroxyl group at the C7 (figure 16).



Figure 16: Nogalaviketone and Aklaviketone are the two products of the SnoaL and AknH catalyzed reaction respectively. These compounds could not be trapped in the SnoaL/AknH structures due to the formation of the dehydrated analogue by the elimination of water from the C9 position. Therefore, the aglycones, nogalamycinone and aklavinone were used for co-crystallization with SnoaL and AknH respectively in order to obtain a bound ligand with the C9 hydroxyl group. The reduced OH group at the C7 of the aglycones prevents the non-enzymatic loss of the C9-OH group.

This modification will prevent the aromatization after dehydration and thus disfavours the non-enzymatic loss of the hydroxyl group at the C9. Surprisingly, the bound ligand represented an open ring compound, formed due to the reversal of the catalytic reaction (figure 17). Notably in this case, the ligand orientation was similar to that observed in the SnoaL complex (Figure 4 in paper 3). The H-bonding patterns for ligand binding



Figure 17: The ligand binding site in AknH-AKV complex. The amino acids from the second monomer of the dimer are shown in black. The residues that are different in SnoaL are superimposed on the corresponding residues in AknH are underlined.

resemble the H-bonding interactions observed in the SnoaL-NAME complex which includes similar direct H-bonding with Gln105 and several water-mediated interactions with Thr128 as well as two residues from another monomer of the tetramer (figure 17). The catalytically important residues (Asp121, Gln105) as well as most other polar residues were positioned in the vicinity of the atoms that form the ring A which further suggested this ligand orientation to be favourable for catalysis.



Figure 18: The electron density of the open ring species bound in the SnoaL-nogalamycinone complex

The corresponding complex of SnoaL with nogalamycinone (Nog) (figure 16) also showed the bound ligand as ring A opened (figure 18) as observed in the AknH-AKV complex.

2.1.7 The proposed reaction mechanism for the polyketide cyclases

The type of reaction catalyzed by SnoaL or AknH is an intramolecular aldol condensation. This class of reaction involves condensation of two carbonyl compounds with exquisite control of the stereochemistry of the product. Therefore, aldol condensation has been considered as an important reaction in synthetic chemistry (Cooper *et al.*, 1996). The crucial step in this type of reaction is the abstraction of a proton from the C-H group followed by the formation of an enolate/carbanion intermediate.

2.1.7.1 Aldol condensation in different aldolases

The aldolases are present in most living organisms (Gefflaut *et al.*, 1995) and are widely known for their potential in the field of biotransformation and synthetic organic chemistry like the synthesis of novel antibiotics (Barbas *et al.*, 1997; Wagner *et al.*, 1995). They have been classified into two classes based on the catalytic mechanism (Rutter, 1964).

The class I aldolases contain a catalytic lysine residue that forms a Schiff base with the substrate carbonyl carbon in order to stabilize the intermediate (figure 19a) (Gefflaut et al., 1995). The structures of several class I aldolases have been determined previously which include human and *E. coli* transaldolases (Jia *et al.*, 1996; Thorell *et al.*, 2000), fructose-6-phosphate aldolase (Thorell et al., 2002) and fructose 1,6-bisphosphate aldolases from different sources like human muscle (Dalby et al., 1999; Gamblin et al., 1991), rabbit muscle (Sygusch and Beaudry, 1984), Drosophila melanogaster (Hester et al., 1991) and Archaea (Lorentzen et al., 2003). The class II aldolases, also known as metalloaldolases are found mostly in lower eukaryotes and bacteria. They require a divalent metal ion usually zinc or magnesium, which is coordinated to the substrate during catalysis (Morse and Horecker, 1968). This active center zinc ion acts as a Lewis acid and polarizes the carbonyl bond of the ketose substrate (Hall et al., 1999) (figure 19b). The first structure of a class II aldolase, L-fuculose-1,5-bisphosphate aldolase was published in 1996 (Dreyer and Schulz, 1996) which was followed by the structure of E.Coli type II fructose 1.6-bisphosphate aldolase published in the same year (Blom et al., 1996; Cooper et al., 1996). These two enzymes use a zinc cofactor for stabilizing the intermediate (Drever and Schulz, 1996; Hall et al., 1999). However, 2-dehydro-3-deoxy-galactose aldolase is another class II aldolase which uses a magnesium ion as cofactor. The crystal structure of this enzyme in holo/apo form suggested a novel mechanism compared to other class II aldolases which involves a

phosphate group acting as a proton acceptor for generating the carbanion intermediate and a water molecule connected to a histidine residue as a proton donor/acceptor in the second step of the reaction (Izard and Blackwell, 2000).





Figure 19: Different types of aldol condensation reactions. (A) Class I aldolases through Schiff's base formation; (B) Class II aldolases via metal dependent mechanism and (C) the mechanism through acid-base chemistry in SnoaL

2.1.7.2 Novel reaction mechanism proposed for SnoaL

The structural investigation of SnoaL excludes the possibility of the aldol condensation mechanism through the Schiff's base formation due to the absence of any lysine residue in the active site. Moreover, no electron density was observed close to the bound ligand which can represent a metal ion. The activity of SnoaL was also not affected by the use of metal chelating agent (EDTA), which indicated that SnoaL does not use the metal dependent mechanism either. Studies of the SnoaL homolog, DnrD, also previously suggested that these polyketide cyclases are neither metal dependent nor produce Schiff base intermediates (Kendrew *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, the structural analysis and mutagenesis of the active site residues revealed a novel aldol condensation mechanism for SnoaL which follows simple acid/base chemistry.

Mutation of Asp121 resulted in complete inactive enzyme which confirmed the key role of this residue in catalysis. During the first step of the reaction, Asp121 abstracts a proton from the C10 position of the substrate (figure 19c). There are several possibilities for stabilizing the resulting enolate intermediate. The active site feature of SnoaL suggested the direct H-bonding of Gln105 with the C14 carbonyl oxygen of the substrate as a possible way to stabilize the intermediate. However, mutation of Gln105 leading to partial enzyme activity (Table 2 in paper 2) indicated that this residue might be involved in ligand binding but is not necessary for catalysis. The resulting enolate

can be stabilized by the delocalization of the electrons over the π system of neighboring aromatic ring system which also facilitates the proton abstraction by the catalytic base by lowering the pK_a of the C-H proton compared to an aliphatic substituent. The reaction is continued by the nucleophilic attack of the carbanion intermediate onto the carbonyl carbon at C9 and the negative charge on the C9 oxygen is then stabilized by a proton transfer from Asp121 (figure 19c).

The proposed mechanism and the role of Asp121 as both proton donor and acceptor further support the stereochemical outcome of the SnoaL product. The production of the 9S isomer at the C9 position would require the nucleophilic attack from the *re* face of the aldehyde which will result the alcoholate anion to point towards the Asp121 for the subsequent protonation. On the other hand, the presence of only hydrophobic residues on the *si* face of the aldehyde omits the possibility of producing the 9R isomer of the product due to the fact that there is no residue which can act as a proton donor during the last step.

The positioning of catalytic residues (Asp121, Gln105) in the AknH-AKV complex and the mutation studies (Table 1 in paper 3) suggested a similar aspartic-acid driven catalytic mechanism of AknH as observed in SnoaL. However, one significant difference in the mechanism of AknH requires that the attack of the enolate occurs from the *si* face of the C9 carbonyl group, which is necessary for the 9R stereochemistry of the product (figure 7 in paper 3). Thus, the role of Asp121 as the proton donor in SnoaL will not hold in the case of AknH because the alcoholate anion will point away from the side chain of Asp121. One possible option for the protonation of the alcoholate anion is a crystallographically identified water molecule adjacent to Tyr15 in the model of AknH-product complex (figure 7 in paper 3).

2.1.8 Product stereoselectivity of the polyketide cyclases

The structural determinants in SnoaL and AknH which can be responsible for the stereoselectivity of the corresponding products were suggested by comparing the active sites of these two cyclases. The comparison showed two polar residues within a 6Å radius of the C9 atom which are different in these two enzymes. Tyr/Phe15 and Asn/Leu51 in AknH/SnoaL (figure 17) are positioned in the proximity of ring A of the aglycone and were subjected to single and double mutation studies in order to examine their role in the stereoselectivity of the product. Single mutation of Tyr15Phe in AknH showed 20% of the products with 9S stereochemistry while the double mutation of both Tyr15Phe and Asn51Leu in AknH showed a racemic mixture of the products (50% with 9S stereochemistry). Therefore, mutagenesis of these residues clearly indicated that Asn51 and Tyr15 are responsible for the stereoselectivity of the product in AknH. The structure of AknH and SnoaL also supports the role of these two residues in the stereochemical outcome of the reaction. The 9R stereochemistry of the product in AknH showed a Tyr15

respectively in the model of AknH-product complex (figure 7 in paper 3). These two residues are replaced by the Leu51 and Phe15 in SnoaL which creates a hydrophobic environment and favours the methyl group pointing towards them instead of the hydroxyl group, thus resulting in the 9S configuration in the product (figure 7 in paper 3). It is noteworthy that the two hydrophobic residues, Leu51 and Phe15 are only observed in SnoaL, which are replaced by two polar residues (Asn51 and Tyr15) in AknH and all other polyketide cyclases that form 9R conformation of the product. Therefore, from the structural point of view, it is also evident that these two polar residues in AknH play a vital role in the stereoselectivity of products in AknH.

2.1.9 Examples of divergent evolution towards different chemistry

SnoaL2 and AcIR are two homologous hydroxylases from *Streptomyces nogalater* and *Streptomyces galileus* involved in nogalamycin and cinerubin biosynthesis respectively. There is genetic evidence that these enzymes are involved in the hydroxylation of C1 of the polyketide core, thus producing a 1-hydroxylated aglycone moiety (Oki, 1984; Torkkell *et al.*, 2001). They share weak sequence identity (approximately 25%) with the members of the polyketide cyclase family such as, SnoaL (Raty *et al.*, 2002; Torkkell *et al.*, 2000), AknH (Raty *et al.*, 2002) or DnrD (Kendrew *et al.*, 1999) and do not show any similarities to flavin or metal-dependent hydroxylases.



Figure 20: Superimposition of (a) the monomers of SnoaL, AclR and SnoaL2 and (b) the AB dimer of SnoaL tetramer (grey) and dimer of SnoaL2 (black).

The overall structural fold of SnoaL2 and AcIR is a $\alpha+\beta$ barrel fold (Beinker *et al.*, 2006) which is very similar to the overall fold observed in SnoaL or AknH. Structural superimposition of SnoaL on SnoaL2 or AcIR gave an r.m.s.d value of 2.35Å for the C α atoms which further reflects overall structural similarity (figure 20a). The moderate degree of sequence similarity and the preservation of the fold between these cyclases and hydroxylases suggest an evolutionary relationship among them. However, the quaternary structures of Snoal2/AcIR and SnoaL/AknH were considerably different. SnoaL/AknH were tetramers, described as a dimer of dimers (paper 2) whereas SnoaL2/AcIR were arranged as a dimer. The packing of the dimer in the cyclases and hydroxylases were also significantly different (figure 20b). It thus appears that these enzymes have evolved from a common protein scaffold by divergent evolution, but they catalyze completely different reactions like aldol condensation (cyclases) and hydroxylation, an illustrative example of how chemical diversity evolves in one metabolic pathway within an evolutionary related enzyme family.

The tetracenomycin F2 cyclase (TcmI) is a type II polyketide cyclase which catalyzes the ring closure step at the fourth ring of the polyketide core during the biosynthesis of tetracenomycin C from *Streptomyces glaucescens* (Shen and Hutchinson, 1993). This enzyme does not show any sequence similarity to the SnoaL-type cyclases. The overall fold of TcmI is completely different than that observed for SnoaL/AknH and shows a ferredoxin-like fold (Thompson *et al.*, 2004) (figure 21a). However, TcmI also catalyzes the reaction via an intramolecular aldol condensation reaction and it was



Figure 21: The dimers of TcmI (A) and ActVA-orf6 (B).

reported from the biochemical studies that this enzyme does not use any co-factor (Shen and Hutchinson, 1993). Moreover, the proposed active site of TcmI does not contain any lysine which might be important for the Schiff's base formation (Thompson *et al.*, 2004). TcmI also is another example of divergent evolution due to the structural similarity to the monooxygenase ActVA-Orf6 from the actinorhodin biosynthetic pathways. ActVA-Orf6 catalyzes the oxygenation in the polyketide ring without any cofactor or metal ions (Kendrew *et al.*, 1997) and the overall fold belongs to the ferredoxin-like fold as observed in TcmI (Sciara *et al.*, 2003) (figure 21b). The overall similarity in the structures of TcmI and ActVA-Orf6 suggests an evolutionary relationship between these two enzymes, albeit it is barely detectable at the sequence level (Schneider, 2005).

2.2 Aclacinomycin oxidoreductase (AknOx): Paper 4& 5

Aclacinomycin oxidoreductase (AknOx) is a flavoenzyme, which is involved in the modification of the terminal sugar moiety in the aclacinomycin biosynthetic pathway. It was first isolated and purified from the *Streptomyces galilaeus* strain MA144-M1 in 1979 (Yoshimoto *et al.*, 1979). This enzyme catalyzes two consecutive oxidation-reduction reactions using FAD as cofactor and converts AclN to AclA and then eventually the latter compound to AclY (figure 22). AclA is a well-known anticancer drug and is being used commercially (Raty *et al.*, 2002), while AclY has been shown to have higher antimicrobial activity compared to AclA (Yoshimoto *et al.*, 1979). During the AknOx catalyzed reactions, molecular oxygen is required in order to re-oxidize FAD.

In the first step of the reaction, AknOx converts the rhodinose moiety of AclN to cinerulose A in AclA by oxidizing the hydroxyl group to a keto group. In the next step, cinerulose A is converted to L-aculose of AclY by a dehydrogenation reaction which forms a double bond between two carbon atoms in L-aculose (figure 22). AknOx consists of 502 amino acid residues with a molecular weight of 54.8KDa. This enzyme is synthesized as a pre-protein which contains 43 additional residues at the N-terminus responsible for the extracellular secretion.



Figure 22: The two consecutive reactions catalyzed by AknOx

2.2.1 Crystallization and structure determination of AknOx

Crystallization and data collection from native and selenomethionine (SeMet) substituted AknOx has been described in paper 4. The phase problem was solved by MAD (Multiple-wavelength Anomalous Dispersion) with the three datasets collected from the SeMet crystal and the model building was performed in the 2.7Å experimental density map. Phase combination was used during manual building in order to obtain the missing part of the structure (paper 4).

The analysis of intensity statistics for all collected datasets suggested twinning in AknOx crystals. Therefore, the refinement with twin protocol in SHELXL (Sheldrick and Schneider, 1997) was performed by using the 2.0Å and 1.65Å native datasets consecutively. Details about the overall refinement process are described in paper 4 and the present statistics are shown in the Table 1 in paper 5.

2.2.2 Twinning in AknOx crystals

2.2.2.1 Twinning: Definition and classification

Twinning can be defined as a crystal growth anomaly which occurs in a crystalline specimen containing two or more crystalline domains related by a special orientation. This orientation is related to the crystal lattice without belonging to the symmetry operations of the crystal point group (Koch, 1992). Twinning has been recognized and classified by several early crystallographers such as Donnay and Friedel (Donnay and Donnay, 1974; Friedel, 1926). Different types of twinning have been described according to whether the separate lattices coincide in fewer than three dimensions, in all three dimensions or in approximately three dimensions. According to Giacovazzo and Donnay, there are two families (Donnay and Donnay, 1974; Giacovazzo, 1992):

- i. Quasi-twin lattice symmetry (QTLS) where two or more twin lattices do not completely overlap in three dimensions. If only two lattice axes can be aligned, these twins are called non-merohedral or epitaxial twinning. Crystals with this type of twinning produce multiple diffraction spots which are easily recognizable by the inspection of the three-dimensional diffraction pattern showing distinct interpenetrating reciprocal lattices (Chandra *et al.*, 1999).
- ii. Twin-lattice symmetry (TLS) or merohedral twinning is generated by perfect overlapping of the lattices in three dimensions from several twin domains. This type of twinning can not be interpreted from the diffraction images because the reciprocal lattices of each domain completely overlap and create one single diffraction spot (Chandra *et al.*, 1999). Merohedral twins reflect the possibility of different non-equivalent orientations of crystals within a lattice of symmetry higher than the crystal point group symmetry. Therefore, this type of twinning usually occurs in the trigonal, tetragonal, hexagonal or cubic systems, with

lattices always having the apparent higher symmetry of the system (Barends *et al.*, 2005; Dauter, 2003). Hemihedral and tetartohedral twinning are the two subgroups of merohedral twinning where the diffraction pattern is a superimposition of the pattern from two or four twin domains respectively (Barends *et al.*, 2005; Chandra *et al.*, 1999; Dauter, 2003; Liang *et al.*, 1996; Lietzke *et al.*, 1996; Rudolph *et al.*, 2003; Yeates, 1997; Yeates and Fam, 1999).

If the overlapping profile of the lattices from different twin domains takes place approximately in three dimensions, this phenomenon gives rise to another kind of twinning, termed as pseudomerohedral twinning (Yeates, 1997).Usually, this type of twinning is the result of the unit-cell parameters being close to fulfilling that for higher symmetry (Yang *et al.*, 2000). Pseudomerohedral twinning can occur in monoclinic and orthorhombic space group due to the presence of fortuitous unit cell parameters. For instance, a=b in an orthorhombic cell can mimic tetragonal space group (Frazao *et al.*, 1999). In a monoclinic system, several conditions for emulating an orthorhombic lattice exist 1) a=c (Ban *et al.*, 1999; Ito *et al.*, 1995; Yang *et al.*, 2000), 2) β angle close to 90° (Barends and Dijkstra, 2003; Larsen *et al.*, 2002) or 3) in case the cell parameters satisfy the condition, $c \cos\beta = -a/2$ (Declercq and Evrard, 2001; Rudolph *et al.*, 2004). However, cell parameters of a=c and β close to 120° in the monoclinic system can emulate a hexagonal metric. This kind of pseudomerohedral twinning is termed as 'Drilling' (german for tripling) (Sheldrick and Schneider, 1997) and contain three twin components related by two twinning fractions.

In order to deal with twin crystals, it is necessary to identify i) the twin law which is the description of the orientation of the different twin domains relative to each other and ii) the twinning fraction, α which can be defined as the fractional volume contributed by each twin component.

Crystal twinning has been considered as one of the main obstacles for successful structure determination for proteins. However, a number of structures have been determined from twinned crystals using different methods of experimental phasing such as MAD or MIR (Multiple Isomorphous Replacement). Lists of several protein structures determined by experimental phasing from pseudomerohedrally and merohedrally twinned crystals are listed in Table 4a and 4b respectively.

 Table 4a: Examples of proteins structures determined from pseudomeroherally twinned crystals by experimental phasing.

Protein	Exp.Method	True	special unit	PDB	reference
	_	Space	cell	ID	
		group	geometry		
50S ribosomal subunit	MIRAS/SAD	P2 ₁	a=c	1c04	(Ban <i>et al.</i> , 1999)
gpD	MAD	P2 ₁	a=c	1c5e	(Yang <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2000)
Peroxiredoxin 5	SIR	P21	ccosβ=-a/2	1h4o	(Declercq and Evrard, 2001)
PlgR	MIR	P2 ₁	ccosβ=-a/2	1xed	(Hamburger et al., 2004)

PlgR= polymeric immunoglobulin like receptor gpD= bacteriophage lambda head protein D

 Table 4a: Examples of proteins structures determined from meroherally twinned crystals by experimental phasing.

Protein	Exp.Met.	Space group	PDB ID	reference
Interleukin -1β	MAD	P4 ₃	f42w	(Rudolph <i>et al.</i> , 2003)
MltA	MAD	P3 ₁	2ae0	(Barends <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
Rna1p	MIRAS	I4 ₁	2ca6	(Hillig and Renault, 2006)
DAOCS	MIR	R3	1dcs	(Rees and Lipscomb, 1980; Valegard <i>et al.</i> , 1998)
Carboxypeptidase A	MIR	P3 ₂	4cpa	(Rees and Lipscomb, 1980) (Rees and Lipscomb, 1982)
Hydroxylamine oxidoreductase	MIR	P6 ₃	1fgj	(Igarashi <i>et al.</i> , 1997)

MltA= lytic transglycosylase A

DAOCS= deacetoxycephalosporin C synthase

2.2.2.2 Twinning analysis in AknOx crystals: Paper 4

The diffraction datasets from native crystals were reduced to the space group P2₁ with the cell dimensions of a=c and β angle being very close to 120° (Table 1 in paper 4). Several twinning tests clearly suggested pseudomerohedral twinning in these crystals. However, the cell parameters of AknOx suggested several possibilities for pseudomerohedral twinning which includes 1) two equal cell dimensions, a=c can emulate an orthothorhombic space group or 2) β close to 120° in addition to a=c will give rise to a hexagonal metric.

The refinement of the AknOx model using either two-domain or three-domain twinning operator gives comparable Rfree values (24.2% and 26.5%). The investigation of the crystal packing and the refinement statistics suggests the presence of multi-domain twinning with six twin domains which is a combination of two twinning operators perpendicular to each other, i.e. a perfect two-fold twinning operator along the diagonal between a and c and a three-fold operator almost parallel to the crystallographic b axis.

2.2.3 The overall fold of AknOx: Paper 5



Figure 23: The structure of AknOx is shown with the bound FAD and ligand. The FAD and ligand is coloured in yellow and blue respectively. The conserved FAD binding motifs are coloured in purple. The structure of AknOx has two distinct domains for binding FAD and the ligand. The FAD binding domain (F-domain) is further divided into two α + β subdomains; F1 and F2 (figure 23). These two subdomains pack against each other to accommodate the FAD. The F1 part contains a 4-stranded mixed β -sheet flanked by two α -helices and the F2 subdomain folds into a five stranded antiparallel β -sheet which packs on one side against 4 α -helices and one 3₁₀ helix.

The substrate binding domain (S-domain) in AknOx contains a large central seven stranded β -sheet flanked by four α -helices on one side (figure 23). The ligand binding pocket extends from the protein surface towards the interior of the domain. The flavin and ligand binding domains are connected by two long loop regions L1 and L2 containing residues 210-226 and 449-471 respectively. L1 loop also contains a 3₁₀ helix with residues 218-221.

2.2.4 AknOx belongs to the PCMH superfamily

The structure of AknOx belongs to the PCMH (p-cresol methylhydroxylase) superfamily according to the structural comparison analysis. Other members of this family are listed in Table 2 in paper 5. The family name is derived from the chain fold of p-cresol methylhydroxylase, the first enzyme with reported three-dimensional structure (Mathews *et al.*, 1991).

2.2.4.1 The conserved F-domain and FAD binding features in the PCMH superfamily

The proteins from the PCMH superfamily showed a conserved F-domain fold that includes two $\alpha+\beta$ subdomains. The binding pocket for the FAD is also very similar for all family members. The FAD is accommodated between the two subdomains and the conserved extended architecture between two subdomains allows adopting the elongated conformation of FAD (figure 23) (Dym and Eisenberg, 2001). FAD interacts with the protein by several H-bonding and van der Waals contacts and there are four different sequence motifs typical in this superfamily for binding the co-factor. The motif 1 is termed as the p-loop which includes the residues 66-72 in AknOx and interacts with the phosphate group of FAD (Aravind *et al.*, 2004). Residues in motif 2 (residues 134-139 on helix 4 in AknOx) interact with the ribityl and phosphate parts of FAD. The third motif contains the residue 188-203 in AknOx and residues from this motif (Gly197 and Val203) are involved in binding the adenine part. The last motif is placed at the C-terminal part of the F-domain (residues 482-488 in helix 13) and is involved in the structural stabilization of this domain by several H-bonding and hydrophobic interactions (Lee *et al.*, 2005a) (figure 23).

2.2.4.2 Diversity in the structure of the substrate binding domain is observed in the PCMH superfamily

The substrate binding domain of the members of PCMH superfamily showed similar structural fold but significant variation in architecture of the substrate binding site, required for accommodating different substrates ranging from a small lactate to bulky cholesterol, long chain oligosaccharides and polyketide compounds (Cunane et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2005). Both AknOx and glucooligosaccharide oxidase (GOOX) possess an open, accessible ligand binding pocket for binding oligosaccharides compared to the closed conformation observed in PCMH (Cunane et al., 2005) or vanillyl-alcohol oxidase (VAO) (Fraaije et al., 1999; Fraaije et al., 2000). The closed conformation limits the size of the ligand binding pocket and applies the "sizeexclusion mechanism" for binding small ligands (Huang et al., 2005). Another example of structural diversity in the S-domain related to the substrate specificity is observed as the major structural difference in the loop regions in AknOx and GOOX at the entrance of the substrate binding pocket. GOOX contains a long loop of 15 residues which is replaced in AknOx by a shorter loop of only seven amino acids (figure S2 in paper 5). The specific shape of the loop in AknOx is required because one residue of this loop (Phe339) is involved in the recognition and binding of the polyketide core of the AknOx substrate (figure S2 in paper 5).

2.2.5 FAD binding site in AknOx

The isoalloxazine ring of FAD is bound at the interface of the F- and S-domains, while the ADP-ribosyl part is located between two subdomains of the flavin binding domain. The ribityl part of FAD is H-bonded with main chain and side chain atoms of several residues (figure 3a in paper 5) whereas the phosphate group is predominantly H-bonded with the main chain residues from a loop region (p-loop) including residues 66-70. The phosphate group is also connected with the side chain of R66 via two water molecules. The ribose and adenine part of FAD is involved in three direct H-bonding interactions with the main chain and side chain atoms and has one-water mediated interaction with the backbone of Val65 (figure 3a in paper 5).

2.2.6 Covalent flavinylation in AknOx and other flavoproteins

Covalent attachments between protein molecule and flavin have been recognized for about 40 years following the work of Singer and co-workers (Kearney and Singer, 1955a; Kearney and Singer, 1955b; Singer *et al.*, 1956) on mammalian succinate dehydrogenase. Since then a number of flavoproteins has been identified which interact covalently with FAD or FMN.

2.2.6.1 Categories of covalent flavinylation observed in different

flavoenzymes

According to Mewies and his co-workers (Mewies *et al.*, 1998), the covalent flavoproteins were divided generally into two categories. These two groups of protein contain covalently bound flavin through the 8α methyl group and the C6 atom of the isoalloxazine ring respectively. The former category can be subdivided based on the type of amino acid residues that interacts with the flavin. These subgroups with different interacting residues (figure 24) are described briefly as follows:

- <u>8α-N1-(or N3)-Histidyl-FAD:</u> This group of proteins is involved in covalent linkage with the 8α-methyl group of FAD through the N1 or N3 atom of the histidine residue. The structure of cholesterol oxidase (Kenney *et al.*, 1979), cytokinin dehydrogenase (Malito *et al.*, 2004) shows the N1-histidyl interaction while those of 6-hydroxy-D-nicotine-oxidase (Brandsch *et al.*, 1987; Bruhmuller and Decker, 1973; Koetter and Schulz, 2005), succinate dehydrogenase (Walker and Singer, 1970) and vanillyl-alcohol oxidase (VAO) (de Jong *et al.*, 1992; Fraaije *et al.*, 1999) are the examples of N3histidyl covalent binding with the FAD
- <u>8α-O-tyrosyl-FAD:</u> Covalent linkage between the hydroxyl group of tyrosine residue with the FAD is observed in several enzymes like p-cresol methylhydroxylase (McIntire *et al.*, 1981) and 4-ethylphenol methyl hydroxylase (Reeve *et al.*, 1989).
- <u>8α-S-cysteinyl-FAD:</u> The sulfur atom of a cysteine residue in several proteins is involved in the covalent binding with FAD. One example of this type of linkage is the structure of monoamine oxidase (Li *et al.*, 2006; Nagy and Salach, 1981).
- <u>6-S-cysteinyl FMN:</u> The covalent bonding between the C6 of FMN and cysteine from the protein has been observed in the triethylamine dehydrogenase and dimethylamine dehydrogenase (Boyd *et al.*, 1992; Kenney *et al.*, 1978; Yang *et al.*, 1995).

Recently, a novel form of covalent linkage was identified in the structure of glucooligosaccharide oxidase (GOOX) (Huang *et al.*, 2005) which showed a bicovalently bound FAD (figure 24) through its 8α -methyl group and C6 position interacting with a histidine and cysteine residue respectively, thus forming a 6-S-cysteinyl- 8α -N1-histidyl-FAD.



Figure 24: Different types of covalent flavinylation observed in flavoenzymes

2.2.6.2 The flavinylation observed in AknOx and PCMH superfamily

The FAD in AknOx is bound via a bi-covalent mode where the N1 of His70 and the thiol group of Cys130 are involved in covalent interactions with the 8 α -methyl group and C6 of the FAD respectively (figure 3a in paper 5). This type of double covalent attachment is not that common so far and only observed in the structure of GOOX previously (Huang *et al.*, 2005). However, based on mass-spectrometry analysis, S-reticuline oxidase, also known as Berberine Bridge Enzyme (BBE), has been reported

to have a similar bi-covalent enzyme-FAD interaction (Winkler *et al.*, 2006). Mutation studies of His70 in GOOX and His422 in VAO suggested a role of these residues in maintaining the redox potential of FAD.

The enzymes from the PCMH superfamily share a similar conformation and binding features for FAD but it can be bound either covalently or non-covalently to the protein. Most of the members interact with FAD through covalent bonding with the exception of lactate dehydrogenase which exhibits non-covalent interaction with the co-factor (Dym *et al.*, 2000). The types of covalent flavinylation can also differ significantly among the members of this superfamily. AknOx and GOOX show a bi-covalent flavinylation that involves covalent linkage of FAD with histidine and cysteine residues. The other members mostly use the 8 α -methyl group of the isoalloxazine ring for cross-linking with the N1 or N3 atom of histidine (Coulombe *et al.*, 2001; Koetter and Schulz, 2005; Malito *et al.*, 2004) or tyrosine residues (Mathews *et al.*, 1991).

2.2.7 Ligand binding features and active site

Clear electron density for the bound ligand was observed in only one molecule in the asymmetric unit which represented the product AclY whereas AclA was used in the crystallization trials, indicating that the reaction has proceeded during crystallization process. The polyketide core of the ligand was bound at the protein surface of the ligand binding domain while the trisaccharide part was extended into a ligand binding pocket towards the active site (figure 23). The ligand is predominantly bound by several hydrophobic interactions which include the stacking interactions of the polyketide core with Phe339 and Trp372 as well as several phenylalanines and one tryptophan residues involved in hydrophobic contact with the trisaccharide moiety (figure 25). H-bonds are formed by Thr408 with the tertiary amine of rhodosamine and hydroxyl group of ring A of the polyketide core.

There are three tyrosine residues (Tyr450, Tyr144 and Tyr378) positioned in the vicinity of the L-aculose moiety and proposed as active site residues of AknOx (figure 25). The side chain of Tyr450 interacts through direct H-bonding with the keto group of the terminal sugar moiety. Moreover, Ser376 and Glu374 together with Tyr378 form a putative catalytic triad which can be involved in the reaction (figure 25). The N5 nitrogen of the isoalloxazine ring is also located close (ranging 3.7-3.9Å) to the C2, C3 and C4 atoms of the L-aculose moiety which can have important catalytic implications.



Figure 25: The ligand binding site and active site of AknOx. The AclY is coloured as black and labelled. The active site residues are underlined.

2.2.8 Catalytic mechanism of AknOx

AknOx is considered as a unique oxidoreductase due to the fact that it catalyzes two consecutive reactions with different chemistry leading towards the biosynthesis of aclacinomycin Y. The mechanism of the reaction catalyzed by AknOx comprises of two half-reactions; the reductive half reactions involve the oxidation of the hydroxyl group/dehydrogenation, while the oxidative half-reactions are performed by the molecular oxygen to obtain the oxidized FAD.

The first step of the reaction is the conversion of rhodinose to cinerulose A (figure 22) which involves the oxidation of the hydroxyl group at the C4 to a keto group. Structural investigation and mutagenesis of the active site residues (Tyr450 and Tyr144) suggested that Y450 is crucial for catalysis during this step of reaction. Tyr450 is in H-bonding distance from the C4 hydroxyl group of AclN, the substrate for the first reaction which was modelled in the AknOx structure. Mutation of this tyrosine to phenylalanine seriously impaired the enzyme activity (Table 3 in paper 5) which suggested that this residue may facilitate the reaction by assisting transfer of the proton from the C4 hydroxyl group (figure 26a). The proton can eventually be transferred to the side chain of Tyr144 which is placed in the vicinity of the Tyr450. Thus, Tyr144 can play a role in the proton transfer system which is confirmed by the significantly

decreased enzymatic activity in the Tyr144Phe mutant. Proton abstraction is followed by the hydride transfer from the C4 atom to the N5 of the isoalloxazine ring (figure 26a).

The second reaction catalyzed by AknOx is a dehydrogenation where a double bond is formed between C2 and C3 after the abstraction of formally two hydrogen atoms. This step converts cinerulose A to L-aculose (figure 22). Structural inspection of the AknOx-AclY complex and the modeled AknOx-AclA complex revealed that Tyr378 could act as a catalytic base for abstracting a proton from the C3 carbon of cinerulose A. The proton can be transferred through a proton relay system involving Ser376 and Glu374. The reaction continues by hydride transfer from the C2 to N5 of FAD leading to the formation of double bond in L-aculose (figure 26b). Total loss of activity due to the mutation of Tyr378 into phenylalanine confirmed its key role in catalysis. However, the requirement of Glu374 for proton transfer is not crucial because of the unaffected enzymatic activity in the Glu374Ala mutant compared to the wild-type AknOx. The decreased activity observed for the Ser376Ala mutant can be explained either as less efficient transfer of the proton to the solvent channel or necessity of the H-bonding interaction between Tyr378 and Ser376 for optimal positioning of the Tyr378 side chain.



Figure 26a: The mechanism of first reaction converting rhodinose to cinerulose A.



Figure 26b: The mechanism of second reaction from cinerulose A to L-aculose.

The oxidative half-reaction takes place after each cycle of reductive half-reaction by reoxidizing the FAD by molecular oxygen. However, it is not clear whether AclA leaves the active site before the first oxidative half-reaction. The AknOx model shows an open channel at the interface of the flavin and ligand binding domains extending from the surface upto the isoalloxazine ring, which can be a possible way for molecular oxygen to enter the active site without dissociating the AclA (figure 7 in paper 5).

2.2.9 Comparison of catalytic properties in the PCMH superfamily

The proteins from the PCMH superfamily bind the substrate at the *si* face of the isoalloxazine ring of FAD which is typical for this class of proteins. Detailed comparison of active sites of AknOx, GOOX and PCMH revealed that these enzymes use a functionally conserved tyrosine residue (Tyr450, Tyr429 and Tyr473 respectively) for catalysis (figure 8 in paper 5). Tyr450 in AknOx corresponds to the position of Tyr429 in GOOX. Tyr450 in AknOx is involved in proton abstraction from the hydroxyl group of rhodinose, whereas Tyr429 in GOOX was proposed as the main catalytic residue that initiates the reaction. Asp355 in GOOX is responsible for proton transfer from Tyr429 via a connecting water molecule (Huang *et al.*, 2005) and this

residue structurally corresponds to Tyr378 in AknOx. The position of Tyr378 being distant from the hydroxyl group of C4 in rhodinose and from Tyr450 omits the possibility of its role in proton abstraction from hydroxyl group or proton transfer from Tyr450. The mutation experiments further confirmed that Tyr378 is not involved in this particular reaction (Table 3 in paper 5). However, AknOx is unique from GOOX and PCMH due to the fact that it catalyzes two consecutive reactions; an oxidation reaction of the hydroxyl group in the same manner as GOOX followed by a dehydrogenation reaction that forms a C-C double bond in the same sugar moiety. Tyr378 is positioned ideally to initiate the second reaction in AknOx which is also confirmed by the Tyr378Phe mutant. Therefore, two individual tyrosine-mediated reactions in the same active site catalyzed by AknOx makes this enzyme distinctive among the other related members of this superfamily.

3. Conclusions

This thesis was mainly focused on the structural enzymology and mechanistic details of two different enzymes from the anthracycline biosynthetic pathways. The structural features were analyzed based on the three-dimensional structure of the proteins in complex with different substrate/product compounds which provided the necessary insights to pinpoint the active sites. In combination with functional data, the thesis also provides knowledge about the mechanism of reaction for these enzymes that could be useful for rational redesign of the biosynthetic enzymes for producing improved anthracycline compounds.

3.1 SnoaL and AknH

The ligand binding features in both SnoaL and AknH revealed that the ligand is predominantly bound by hydrophobic residues rather than H-bonding. The substrate specificity is also mainly determined by the architecture of the ligand binding pocket rather than specific H-bonds, which explains the fact that these enzymes can accept a broad range of substrates with different degrees of aglycone modification.

The studies of SnoaL revealed a novel mechanism of intermolecular aldol condensation reaction which follows an aspartic acid driven acid/base chemistry and not via the formation of a Schiff's base or metal dependent mechanism for stabilizing the enol(ate) intermediate as observed in aldolases previously. In SnoaL, the intermediate is stabilized by the delocalization of electrons over the π system of the aromatic polyketide ring.

Two residues in AknH were identified to play a role in the stereoselectivity of the products. Site-directed mutagenesis confirmed that Tyr15 and Leu51 are the two residues, responsible for the stereoselectivity of product in AknH.

Comparison of the structures of SnoaL/AknH and some other biosynthetic enzymes showed explicatory examples of divergent evolution observed within aromatic polyketide biosynthetic enzymes. The two hydroxylases, Snoal2/AclR from different anthracycline biosynthetic pathways share very similar fold with the polyketide cyclases SnoaL/AknH, but show different catalytic properties (Beinker *et al.*, 2006).

3.2 AknOx

The structure of AknOx was determined from a multi-domain pseudomerohedral twinned crystal by MAD. AknOx is a flavoenzyme and binds FAD in a bi-covalent manner through histidine and cysteine residues. This enzyme catalyzes two consecutive reactions: an oxidation of a hydroxyl group followed by a dehydrogenation. Investigation of the structure and mutagenesis study of the proposed residues revealed two distinct sets of catalytic residues in the same active site that can catalyze these two consecutive reactions, a dual active-site feature which is unique among the flavoenzymes.

- Allard, S.T., Cleland, W.W. and Holden, H.M. (2004) High resolution X-ray structure of dTDP-glucose 4,6-dehydratase from Streptomyces venezuelae. J Biol Chem, 279, 2211-2220.
- Angiuli, R., Foresti, E., Riva di Sanseverino, L., Isaacs, N.W., Kennard, O., Motherwell, W.D., Wampler, D.L. and Arcamone, F. (1971) Structure of daunomycin; x-ray analysis of N-Br-acetyl-daunomycin solvate. *Nat New Biol*, 234, 78-80.
- Aravind, L., Iyer, L.M., Leipe, D.D. and Koonin, E.V. (2004) A novel family of P-loop NTPases with an unusual phyletic distribution and transmembrane segments inserted within the NTPase domain. *Genome Biol*, 5, R30.
- Arcamone, F., Cassinelli, G., Fantini, G., Grein, A., Orezzi, P., Pol, C. and Spalla, C. (1969a) Adriamycin, 14-hydroxydaunomycin, a new antitumor antibiotic from S. peucetius var. caesius. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 11, 1101-1110.
- Arcamone, F., Franceschi, G., Penco, S. and Selva, A. (1969b) Adriamycin (14hydroxydaunomycin), a novel antitumor antibiotic. *Tetrahedron Lett*, 13, 1007-1010.
- Arcamone, F., Penco, S., Redaelli, S. and Hanessian, S. (1976) Synthesis and antitumor activity of 4'-deoxydaunorubicin and 4'-deoxyadriamycin. J Med Chem, 19, 1424-1425.
- Arora, S.K. (1983) Molecular structure, absolute stereochemistry, and interactions of nogalamycin, a DNA-binding anthracycline antitumour antibiotic. *Journal of American Chemical Society*, **105**, 1328-1332.
- Arora, S.K. (1985a) Molecular structure, stereochemistry and interactions of steffimycin B, and DNA binding anthracycline antibiotic. J Biomol Struct Dyn, 3, 377-385.
- Arora, S.K. (1985b) Structure of aklavinone, a DNA binding anthracycline antibiotic. J Antibiot (Tokyo), 38, 1788-1791.
- Austin, M.B., Bowman, M.E., Ferrer, J.L., Schroder, J. and Noel, J.P. (2004a) An aldol switch discovered in stilbene synthases mediates cyclization specificity of type III polyketide synthases. *Chem Biol*, **11**, 1179-1194.
- Austin, M.B., Izumikawa, M., Bowman, M.E., Udwary, D.W., Ferrer, J.L., Moore, B.S. and Noel, J.P. (2004b) Crystal structure of a bacterial type III polyketide synthase and enzymatic control of reactive polyketide intermediates. *J Biol Chem*, **279**, 45162-45174.
- Bachur, N.R., Johnson, R., Yu, F., Hickey, R., Applegren, N. and Malkas, L. (1993) Antihelicase action of DNA-binding anticancer agents: relationship to guanosine-cytidine intercalator binding. *Mol Pharmacol*, 44, 1064-1069.
- Bachur, N.R., Lun, L., Sun, P.M., Trubey, C.M., Elliott, E.E., Egorin, M.J., Malkas, L. and Hickey, R. (1998) Anthracycline antibiotic blockade of SV40 T antigen helicase action. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 55, 1025-1034.
- Bachur, N.R., Yu, F., Johnson, R., Hickey, R., Wu, Y. and Malkas, L. (1992) Helicase inhibition by anthracycline anticancer agents. *Mol Pharmacol*, 41, 993-998.
- Ban, N., Nissen, P., Hansen, J., Capel, M., Moore, P.B. and Steitz, T.A. (1999) Placement of protein and RNA structures into a 5 A-resolution map of the 50S ribosomal subunit. *Nature*, **400**, 841-847.

- Bao, W., Sheldon, P.J. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1999a) Purification and properties of the Streptomyces peucetius DpsC beta-ketoacyl:acyl carrier protein synthase III that specifies the propionate-starter unit for type II polyketide biosynthesis. *Biochemistry*, **38**, 9752-9757.
- Bao, W., Sheldon, P.J., Wendt-Pienkowski, E. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1999b) The Streptomyces peucetius dpsC gene determines the choice of starter unit in biosynthesis of the daunorubicin polyketide. *J Bacteriol*, 181, 4690-4695.
- Barbas, C.F., 3rd, Heine, A., Zhong, G., Hoffmann, T., Gramatikova, S., Bjornestedt, R., List, B., Anderson, J., Stura, E.A., Wilson, I.A. and Lerner, R.A. (1997) Immune versus natural selection: antibody aldolases with enzymic rates but broader scope. *Science*, 278, 2085-2092.
- Barends, T.R., de Jong, R.M., van Straaten, K.E., Thunnissen, A.M. and Dijkstra, B.W. (2005) Escherichia coli MltA: MAD phasing and refinement of a tetartohedrally twinned protein crystal structure. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, **61**, 613-621.
- Barends, T.R. and Dijkstra, B.W. (2003) Acetobacter turbidans alpha-amino acid ester hydrolase: merohedral twinning in P21 obscured by pseudo-translational NCS. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, **59**, 2237-2241.
- Beinker, P., Lohkamp, B., Peltonen, T., Niemi, J., Mantsala, P. and Schneider, G. (2006) Crystal structures of SnoaL2 and AclR: two putative hydroxylases in the biosynthesis of aromatic polyketide antibiotics. *J Mol Biol*, **359**, 728-740.
- Bentley, S.D., Chater, K.F., Cerdeno-Tarraga, A.M., Challis, G.L., Thomson, N.R., James, K.D., Harris, D.E., Quail, M.A., Kieser, H., Harper, D., Bateman, A., Brown, S., Chandra, G., Chen, C.W., Collins, M., Cronin, A., Fraser, A., Goble, A., Hidalgo, J., Hornsby, T., Howarth, S., Huang, C.H., Kieser, T., Larke, L., Murphy, L., Oliver, K., O'Neil, S., Rabbinowitsch, E., Rajandream, M.A., Rutherford, K., Rutter, S., Seeger, K., Saunders, D., Sharp, S., Squares, R., Squares, S., Taylor, K., Warren, T., Wietzorrek, A., Woodward, J., Barrell, B.G., Parkhill, J. and Hopwood, D.A. (2002) Complete genome sequence of the model actinomycete Streptomyces coelicolor A3(2). *Nature*, 417, 141-147.
- Bhuyan, B.K. and Dietz, A. (1965) Fermentation, taxonomic, and biological studies on nogalamycin. *Antimicrobial Agents Chemother (Bethesda)*, **5**, 836-844.
- Blom, N.S., Tetreault, S., Coulombe, R. and Sygusch, J. (1996) Novel active site in Escherichia coli fructose 1,6-bisphosphate aldolase. *Nat Struct Biol*, 3, 856-862.
- Boyd, G., Mathews, F.S., Packman, L.C. and Scrutton, N.S. (1992) Trimethylamine dehydrogenase of bacterium W3A1. Molecular cloning, sequence determination and over-expression of the gene. *FEBS Lett*, **308**, 271-276.
- Brana, M.F., Cacho, M., Gradillas, A., de Pascual-Teresa, B. and Ramos, A. (2001) Intercalators as anticancer drugs. *Curr Pharm Des*, 7, 1745-1780.
- Brandsch, R., Bichler, V. and Nagursky, H. (1987) Covalent flavinylation of 6hydroxy-D-nicotine oxidase analyzed by partial deletions of the gene. *Eur J Biochem*, **165**, 559-564.
- Brockmann, H. (1963) [Anthracyclinones and Anthracyclines. (Rhodomycinone, Pyrromycinone and Their Glycosides)]. Fortschr Chem Org Naturst, 21, 121-182.
- Brockmann, H. and Bauer, K. (1950) Rhodomycin, ein rotes Antibioticum aus Actinomyceten. *Naturwissenschaften*, **37**, 492-493.

- Bruhmuller, M. and Decker, K. (1973) Covalently bound flavin in D-6hydroxynicotine oxidase from Arthrobacter oxidans. Amino-acid sequence of the FAD-peptide. *Eur J Biochem*, 37, 256-258.
- Capranico, G., Zunino, F., Kohn, K.W. and Pommier, Y. (1990) Sequence-selective topoisomerase II inhibition by anthracycline derivatives in SV40 DNA: relationship with DNA binding affinity and cytotoxicity. *Biochemistry*, **29**, 562-569.
- Cassinelli, G., Configliacchi, E., Penco, S., Rivola, G., Arcamone, F., Pacciarini, A. and Ferrari, L. (1984) Separation, characterization, and analysis of epirubicin (4'-epidoxorubicin) and its metabolites from human urine. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **12**, 506-510.
- Cersosimo, R.J. (1992) Idarubicin: an anthracycline antineoplastic agent. *Clin Pharm*, **11**, 152-167.
- Chandra, N., Acharya, K.R. and Moody, P.C. (1999) Analysis and characterization of data from twinned crystals. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, **55**, 1750-1758.
- Chichuk, T.V., Strashkevich, I.A. and Klebanov, G.I. (1999) [Free radical mechanisms of low-intensive laser radiation]. *Vestn Ross Akad Med Nauk*, 27-32.
- Cooper, S.J., Leonard, G.A., McSweeney, S.M., Thompson, A.W., Naismith, J.H., Qamar, S., Plater, A., Berry, A. and Hunter, W.N. (1996) The crystal structure of a class II fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase shows a novel binuclear metalbinding active site embedded in a familiar fold. *Structure*, 4, 1303-1315.
- Coulombe, R., Yue, K.Q., Ghisla, S. and Vrielink, A. (2001) Oxygen access to the active site of cholesterol oxidase through a narrow channel is gated by an Arg-Glu pair. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 30435-30441.
- Cowell, I.G., Okorokov, A.L., Cutts, S.A., Padget, K., Bell, M., Milner, J. and Austin, C.A. (2000) Human topoisomerase IIalpha and IIbeta interact with the Cterminal region of p53. *Exp Cell Res*, 255, 86-94.
- Crooke, S.T., Duvernay, V.H., Galvan, L. and Prestayko, A.W. (1978) Structureactivity relationships of anthracyclines relative to effects on macromolecular syntheses. *Mol Pharmacol*, **14**, 290-298.
- Crump, M.P., Crosby, J., Dempsey, C.E., Parkinson, J.A., Murray, M., Hopwood, D.A. and Simpson, T.J. (1997) Solution structure of the actinorhodin polyketide synthase acyl carrier protein from Streptomyces coelicolor A3(2). *Biochemistry*, **36**, 6000-6008.
- Cunane, L.M., Chen, Z.W., McIntire, W.S. and Mathews, F.S. (2005) p-Cresol methylhydroxylase: alteration of the structure of the flavoprotein subunit upon its binding to the cytochrome subunit. *Biochemistry*, **44**, 2963-2973.
- Dalby, A., Dauter, Z. and Littlechild, J.A. (1999) Crystal structure of human muscle aldolase complexed with fructose 1,6-bisphosphate: mechanistic implications. *Protein Sci*, **8**, 291-297.
- Dauter, Z. (2003) Twinned crystals and anomalous phasing. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr, 59, 2004-2016.
- Davies, C., Heath, R.J., White, S.W. and Rock, C.O. (2000) The 1.8 A crystal structure and active-site architecture of beta-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthase III (FabH) from escherichia coli. *Structure*, **8**, 185-195.
- de Jong, E., van Berkel, W.J., van der Zwan, R.P. and de Bont, J.A. (1992) Purification and characterization of vanillyl-alcohol oxidase from Penicillium

simplicissimum. A novel aromatic alcohol oxidase containing covalently bound FAD. *Eur J Biochem*, **208**, 651-657.

- Debusscher, L., Malarme, M., Bron, D., Rozencweig, M. and Stryckmans, P. (1985) Phase I-II evaluation of carminomycin in adults with acute leukemia. *Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol*, **21**, 31-34.
- Declercq, J.P. and Evrard, C. (2001) A twinned monoclinic crystal form of human peroxiredoxin 5 with eight molecules in the asymmetric unit. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, **57**, 1829-1835.
- Di Marco, A., Gaetani, M. and Scarpinato, B. (1969) Adriamycin (NSC-123,127): a new antibiotic with antitumor activity. *Cancer Chemother Rep*, **53**, 33-37.
- Dickens, M.L., Ye, J. and Strohl, W.R. (1995) Analysis of clustered genes encoding both early and late steps in daunomycin biosynthesis by Streptomyces sp. strain C5. *J Bacteriol*, 177, 536-543.
- Donnay, D. and Donnay, J.D.H. (1974) Classification of triperiodic twins. *Canadian Mineralogist*, **12**, 422-425.
- Dorr, F.A., Von Hoff, D.D., Kuhn, J.G., Schwartz, R. and Kisner, D.L. (1986) Phase I clinical investigation of 7-con-O-methylnogaril, a new anthracycline antibiotic. *Cancer Res*, 46, 2562-2565.
- Draeger, G., Park, S.H. and Floss, H.G. (1999) Mechanism of the 2-Doxygenation Step in the Biosynthesis of the Deoxyhexose Moieties of the Antibiotics Granaticin and Oleandomycin. *Journal of American Chemical Society*, **121**, 2611-2612.
- Dreier, J. and Khosla, C. (2000) Mechanistic analysis of a type II polyketide synthase. Role of conserved residues in the beta-ketoacyl synthase-chain length factor heterodimer. *Biochemistry*, **39**, 2088-2095.
- Drews, J. (1999) In quest for tomorrow's medicine. Chapter 2.
- Dreyer, M.K. and Schulz, G.E. (1996) Refined high-resolution structure of the metalion dependent L-fuculose-1-phosphate aldolase (class II) from Escherichia coli. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr, 52, 1082-1091.
- Dubos, R.J. and Hotchkiss, R.D. (1941) The production of bactericidal substances by aerobic sporulating bacilli. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **73**, 629-640.
- Dubost, M., Ganter, P., Maral, R., Ninet, L., Pinnert, S., Preudhomme, J. and Werner, G.H. (1963) [a New Antibiotic with Cytostatic Properties: Rubidomycin.]. C R Hebd Seances Acad Sci, 257, 1813-1815.
- Dunkern, T.R., Wedemeyer, I., Baumgartner, M., Fritz, G. and Kaina, B. (2003) Resistance of p53 knockout cells to doxorubicin is related to reduced formation of DNA strand breaks rather than impaired apoptotic signaling. *DNA Repair (Amst)*, **2**, 49-60.
- DuVernay, V.H., Essery, J.M., Doyle, T.W., Bradner, W.T. and Crooke, S.T. (1979a) The antitumor effects of anthracyclines. The importance of the carbomethoxygroup at position-10 of marcellomycin and rudolfomycin. *Mol Pharmacol*, **15**, 341-356.
- DuVernay, V.H., Jr., Pachter, J.A. and Crooke, S.T. (1979b) DNA binding studies on several new anthracycline antitumor antibiotics II. The importance of the carbomethoxy-group as position-10 of the class II anthracycline molecule. *Mol Pharmacol*, **16**, 623-632.
- Dym, O. and Eisenberg, D. (2001) Sequence-structure analysis of FAD-containing proteins. *Protein Sci*, 10, 1712-1728.

- Dym, O., Pratt, E.A., Ho, C. and Eisenberg, D. (2000) The crystal structure of D-lactate dehydrogenase, a peripheral membrane respiratory enzyme. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 9413-9418.
- Eckardt, K. and Wagner, C. (1988) Biosynthesis of anthracyclinones. J Basic Microbiol, 28, 137-144.
- Ferrari, L., Rossi, A., Brambilla, C., Bonfante, V., Villani, F., Crippa, F. and Bonadonna, G. (1984) Phase I study with 4'-deoxydoxorubicin. *Invest New Drugs*, 2, 287-295.
- Ferrer, J.L., Jez, J.M., Bowman, M.E., Dixon, R.A. and Noel, J.P. (1999) Structure of chalcone synthase and the molecular basis of plant polyketide biosynthesis. *Nat Struct Biol*, 6, 775-784.
- Findlow, S.C., Winsor, C., Simpson, T.J., Crosby, J. and Crump, M.P. (2003) Solution structure and dynamics of oxytetracycline polyketide synthase acyl carrier protein from Streptomyces rimosus. *Biochemistry*, 42, 8423-8433.
- Fraaije, M.W., van den Heuvel, R.H., van Berkel, W.J. and Mattevi, A. (1999) Covalent flavinylation is essential for efficient redox catalysis in vanillylalcohol oxidase. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 35514-35520.
- Fraaije, M.W., van Den Heuvel, R.H., van Berkel, W.J. and Mattevi, A. (2000) Structural analysis of flavinylation in vanillyl-alcohol oxidase. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 38654-38658.
- Frazao, C., Sieker, L., Coelho, R., Morais, J., Pacheco, I., Chen, L., LeGall, J., Dauter, Z., Wilson, K. and Carrondo, M.A. (1999) Crystallization and preliminary diffraction data analysis of both single and pseudo-merohedrally twinned crystals of rubredoxin oxygen oxidoreductase from Desulfovibrio gigas. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, 55, 1465-1467.
- Friedel, G. (1926) Lecons de Crystallographie. Berger-Levrault, Paris.
- Fujii, I. and Ebizuka, Y. (1997) Anthracycline Biosynthesis in Streptomyces galilaeus. *Chem Rev*, 97, 2511-2524.
- Funa, N., Ohnishi, Y., Fujii, I., Shibuya, M., Ebizuka, Y. and Horinouchi, S. (1999) A new pathway for polyketide synthesis in microorganisms. *Nature*, **400**, 897-899.
- Gamblin, S.J., Davies, G.J., Grimes, J.M., Jackson, R.M., Littlechild, J.A. and Watson, H.C. (1991) Activity and specificity of human aldolases. *J Mol Biol*, 219, 573-576.
- Gause, G.F., Brazhnikova, M.G. and Shorin, V.A. (1974) A new antitumor antibiotic, carminomycin (NSC-180024). *Cancer Chemother Rep*, **58**, 255-256.
- Gefflaut, T., Blonski, C., Perie, J. and Willson, M. (1995) Class I aldolases: substrate specificity, mechanism, inhibitors and structural aspects. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol*, **63**, 301-340.
- Gewirtz, D.A. (1999) A critical evaluation of the mechanisms of action proposed for the antitumor effects of the anthracycline antibiotics adriamycin and daunorubicin. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **57**, 727-741.
- Ghione, M. (1975) Development of adriamycin (NSC-123127). *Cancer chemotherapy reports*, **3**, 83-89.
- Giacovazzo, C. (1992). *Fundamentals of Crystallography*. IUCR/Oxford University Press. pp 61-140.
- Grein, A., Spalla, C., Di Marco, A. and Canevazzi, G. (1963) Descrizione e classificazione di un attinomicette (*Streptomyces peucetius* sp. nova)

produttore di Una Sostanza ad attvita antitumorale: La daunocinina. *Giorn Microbiology*, **11**, 109-118.

- Grimm, A., Madduri, K., Ali, A. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1994) Characterization of the Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 29050 genes encoding doxorubicin polyketide synthase. *Gene*, **151**, 1-10.
- Gullon, S., Olano, C., Abdelfattah, M.S., Brana, A.F., Rohr, J., Mendez, C. and Salas, J.A. (2006) Isolation, characterization, and heterologous expression of the biosynthesis gene cluster for the antitumor anthracycline steffimycin. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, **72**, 4172-4183.
- Hadfield, A.T., Limpkin, C., Teartasin, W., Simpson, T.J., Crosby, J. and Crump, M.P. (2004) The crystal structure of the actIII actinorhodin polyketide reductase: proposed mechanism for ACP and polyketide binding. *Structure*, **12**, 1865-1875.
- Hall, D.R., Leonard, G.A., Reed, C.D., Watt, C.I., Berry, A. and Hunter, W.N. (1999) The crystal structure of Escherichia coli class II fructose-1, 6-bisphosphate aldolase in complex with phosphoglycolohydroxamate reveals details of mechanism and specificity. *J Mol Biol*, 287, 383-394.
- Hamburger, A.E., West, A.P., Jr. and Bjorkman, P.J. (2004) Crystal structure of a polymeric immunoglobulin binding fragment of the human polymeric immunoglobulin receptor. *Structure*, **12**, 1925-1935.
- Hare, P.J. (1954) Skin disorders caused by pyogenic organisms. *The practitioner*, **172**, 516.
- Hautala, A., Torkkell, S., Raty, K., Kunnari, T., Kantola, J., Mantsala, P., Hakala, J. and Ylihonko, K. (2003) Studies on a second and third ring cyclization in anthracycline biosynthesis. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*, 56, 143-153.
- Hester, G., Brenner-Holzach, O., Rossi, F.A., Struck-Donatz, M., Winterhalter, K.H., Smit, J.D. and Piontek, K. (1991) The crystal structure of fructose-1,6bisphosphate aldolase from Drosophila melanogaster at 2.5 A resolution. *FEBS Lett*, **292**, 237-242.
- Hillig, R.C. and Renault, L. (2006) Detecting and overcoming hemihedral twinning during the MIR structure determination of Rna1p. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr, 62, 750-765.
- Hong, Y.S., Hwang, C.K., Hong, S.K., Kim, Y.H. and Lee, J.J. (1994) Molecular cloning and characterization of the aklavinone 11-hydroxylase gene of Streptomyces peucetius subsp. caesius ATCC 27952. J Bacteriol, 176, 7096-7101.
- Hopwood, D.A. (1981) Future possibilities for the discovery of new antibiotics by genetic engineering. Academic press, New York.
- Hopwood, D.A. (1993) Genetic engineering of Streptomyces to create hybrid antibiotics. *Curr Opin Biotechnol*, 4, 531-537.
- Hopwood, D.A. (1997) Genetic Contributions to Understanding Polyketide Synthases. *Chem Rev*, **97**, 2465-2498.
- Hopwood, D.A., Malpartida, F., Kieser, H.M., Ikeda, H., Duncan, J., Fujii, I., Rudd, B.A., Floss, H.G. and Omura, S. (1985) Production of 'hybrid' antibiotics by genetic engineering. *Nature*, **314**, 642-644.
- Hopwood, D.A. and Sherman, D.H. (1990) Molecular genetics of polyketides and its comparison to fatty acid biosynthesis. *Annu Rev Genet*, **24**, 37-66.

- Horenstein, M.S., Vander Heide, R.S. and L'Ecuyer, T.J. (2000) Molecular basis of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity and its prevention. *Mol Genet Metab*, 71, 436-444.
- Hortobagyi, G.N. (1997) Anthracyclines in the treatment of cancer. An overview. *Drugs*, **54 Suppl 4**, 1-7.
- Hotchkiss, R.D. and Dubos, R.J. (1940) Bactericidal fractions from an aerobic sporulating bacillus. J. Biol. Chem, 136, 803-804.
- Huang, C.H., Lai, W.L., Lee, M.H., Chen, C.J., Vasella, A., Tsai, Y.C. and Liaw, S.H. (2005) Crystal structure of glucooligosaccharide oxidase from Acremonium strictum: a novel flavinylation of 6-S-cysteinyl, 8alpha-N1-histidyl FAD. J Biol Chem, 280, 38831-38838.
- Huang, W., Jia, J., Edwards, P., Dehesh, K., Schneider, G. and Lindqvist, Y. (1998) Crystal structure of beta-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthase II from E.coli reveals the molecular architecture of condensing enzymes. *Embo J*, 17, 1183-1191.
- Hutchinson, C.R. (1997) Biosynthetic Studies of Daunorubicin and Tetracenomycin C. *Chem Rev*, **97**, 2525-2536.
- Hutchinson, C.R. and Colombo, A.L. (1999) Genetic engineering of doxorubicin production in Streptomyces peucetius: a review. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol, 23, 647-652.
- Hwang, C.K., Kim, H.S., Hong, Y.S., Kim, Y.H., Hong, S.K., Kim, S.J. and Lee, J.J. (1995) Expression of Streptomyces peucetius genes for doxorubicin resistance and aklavinone 11-hydroxylase in Streptomyces galilaeus ATCC 31133 and production of a hybrid aclacinomycin. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, **39**, 1616-1620.
- Igarashi, N., Moriyama, H., Fujiwara, T., Fukumori, Y. and Tanaka, N. (1997) The 2.8 A structure of hydroxylamine oxidoreductase from a nitrifying chemoautotrophic bacterium, Nitrosomonas europaea. *Nat Struct Biol*, **4**, 276-284.
- Ikeda, H., Ishikawa, J., Hanamoto, A., Shinose, M., Kikuchi, H., Shiba, T., Sakaki, Y., Hattori, M. and Omura, S. (2003) Complete genome sequence and comparative analysis of the industrial microorganism Streptomyces avermitilis. *Nat Biotechnol*, 21, 526-531.
- Ito, N., Komiyama, N.H. and Fermi, G. (1995) Structure of deoxyhaemoglobin of the antarctic fish Pagothenia bernacchii with an analysis of the structural basis of the root effect by comparison of the liganded and unliganded haemoglobin structures. J Mol Biol, 250, 648-658.
- Izard, T. and Blackwell, N.C. (2000) Crystal structures of the metal-dependent 2dehydro-3-deoxy-galactarate aldolase suggest a novel reaction mechanism. *Embo J*, **19**, 3849-3856.
- Jain, D. (2000) Cardiotoxicity of doxorubicin and other anthracycline derivatives. J Nucl Cardiol, 7, 53-62.
- Jansson, A., Koskiniemi, H., Erola, A., Wang, J., Mantsala, P., Schneider, G. and Niemi, J. (2005) Aclacinomycin 10-hydroxylase is a novel substrate-assisted hydroxylase requiring S-adenosyl-L-methionine as cofactor. J Biol Chem, 280, 3636-3644.
- Jansson, A., Koskiniemi, H., Mantsala, P., Niemi, J. and Schneider, G. (2004) Crystal structure of a ternary complex of DnrK, a methyltransferase in daunorubicin biosynthesis, with bound products. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 41149-41156.

- Jansson, A., Niemi, J., Lindqvist, Y., Mantsala, P. and Schneider, G. (2003a) Crystal structure of aclacinomycin-10-hydroxylase, a S-adenosyl-L-methioninedependent methyltransferase homolog involved in anthracycline biosynthesis in Streptomyces purpurascens. J Mol Biol, 334, 269-280.
- Jansson, A., Niemi, J., Mantsala, P. and Schneider, G. (2003b) Crystal structure of aclacinomycin methylesterase with bound product analogues: implications for anthracycline recognition and mechanism. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 39006-39013.
- Jensen, P.B., Sorensen, B.S., Sehested, M., Demant, E.J., Kjeldsen, E., Friche, E. and Hansen, H.H. (1993) Different modes of anthracycline interaction with topoisomerase II. Separate structures critical for DNA-cleavage, and for overcoming topoisomerase II-related drug resistance. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 45, 2025-2035.
- Jia, J., Huang, W., Schorken, U., Sahm, H., Sprenger, G.A., Lindqvist, Y. and Schneider, G. (1996) Crystal structure of transaldolase B from Escherichia coli suggests a circular permutation of the alpha/beta barrel within the class I aldolase family. *Structure*, 4, 715-724.
- Jornvall, H., Persson, B., Krook, M., Atrian, S., Gonzalez-Duarte, R., Jeffery, J. and Ghosh, D. (1995) Short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (SDR). *Biochemistry*, 34, 6003-6013.
- Kantola, J., Kunnari, T., Hautala, A., Hakala, J., Ylihonko, K. and Mantsala, P. (2000) Elucidation of anthracyclinone biosynthesis by stepwise cloning of genes for anthracyclines from three different Streptomyces spp. *Microbiology*, **146** (Pt 1), 155-163.
- Katz, L. (1997) Manipulation of Modular Polyketide Synthases. Chem Rev, 97, 2557-2576.
- Katz, L. and Donadio, S. (1993) Polyketide synthesis: prospects for hybrid antibiotics. *Annu Rev Microbiol*, **47**, 875-912.
- Kearney, E.B. and Singer, T.P. (1955a) Observations on the flavin moiety of succinate dehydrogenase. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, **60**, 255-257.
- Kearney, E.B. and Singer, T.P. (1955b) On the prosthetic group of succinic dehydrogenase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 17, 596-597.
- Keatinge-Clay, A.T., Maltby, D.A., Medzihradszky, K.F., Khosla, C. and Stroud, R.M. (2004) An antibiotic factory caught in action. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, **11**, 888-893.
- Keatinge-Clay, A.T., Shelat, A.A., Savage, D.F., Tsai, S.C., Miercke, L.J., O'Connell, J.D., 3rd, Khosla, C. and Stroud, R.M. (2003) Catalysis, specificity, and ACP docking site of Streptomyces coelicolor malonyl-CoA:ACP transacylase. *Structure*, **11**, 147-154.
- Kelly, R.C., Schletter, I., Koert, J.M., MacKellar, F.A. and Wiley, P.F. (1977) Structures of steffimycin and steffimycin B1. *J Org Chem*, **42**, 3591-3596.
- Kendrew, S.G., Hopwood, D.A. and Marsh, E.N. (1997) Identification of a monooxygenase from Streptomyces coelicolor A3(2) involved in biosynthesis of actinorhodin: purification and characterization of the recombinant enzyme. *J Bacteriol*, **179**, 4305-4310.
- Kendrew, S.G., Katayama, K., Deutsch, E., Madduri, K. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1999) DnrD cyclase involved in the biosynthesis of doxorubicin: purification and characterization of the recombinant enzyme. *Biochemistry*, **38**, 4794-4799.
- Kenney, W.C., McIntire, W. and Steenkamp, D.J. (1978) Amino acid sequence of a cofactor peptide from trimethylamine dehydrogenase. *FEBS Lett*, **85**, 137-140.

- Kenney, W.C., Singer, T.P., Fukuyama, M. and Miyake, Y. (1979) Identification of the covalently bound flavin prosthetic group of cholesterol oxidase. *J Biol Chem*, 254, 4689-4690.
- Khosla, C., Gokhale, R.S., Jacobsen, J.R. and Cane, D.E. (1999) Tolerance and specificity of polyketide synthases. *Annu Rev Biochem*, **68**, 219-253.
- Kim, H.S., Hong, Y.S., Kim, Y.H., Yoo, O.J. and Lee, J.J. (1996) New anthracycline metabolites produced by the aklavinone 11-hydroxylase gene in Streptomyces galilaeus ATCC 31133. J Antibiot (Tokyo), 49, 355-360.
- Kitamura, I., Tobe, H., Yoshimoto, A., Oki, T., Naganawa, H., Takeuchi, T. and Umezawa, H. (1981) Biosynthesis of aklavinone and aclacinomycins. J Antibiot (Tokyo), 34, 1498-1500.
- Koch, E. (1992). *International Tables for Crystallography*, vol. C, editor: Wilson, A.J.C., Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers. pp 10-14.
- Koetter, J.W. and Schulz, G.E. (2005) Crystal structure of 6-hydroxy-D-nicotine oxidase from Arthrobacter nicotinovorans. *J Mol Biol*, **352**, 418-428.
- Korman, T.P., Hill, J.A., Vu, T.N. and Tsai, S.C. (2004) Structural analysis of actinorhodin polyketide ketoreductase: cofactor binding and substrate specificity. *Biochemistry*, **43**, 14529-14538.
- Kunnari, T., Kantola, J., Ylihonko, K., Klika, K.D., Mäntsälä, P. and Hakala, J. (1999) Hybrid compounds derived from the combination of anthracycline and actinorhodin biosynthetic pathways. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2, 8, 1649 -1652.
- Larsen, A.K., Escargueil, A.E. and Skladanowski, A. (2003) Catalytic topoisomerase II inhibitors in cancer therapy. *Pharmacol Ther*, 99, 167-181.
- Larsen, N.A., Heine, A., de Prada, P., Redwan el, R., Yeates, T.O., Landry, D.W. and Wilson, I.A. (2002) Structure determination of a cocaine hydrolytic antibody from a pseudomerohedrally twinned crystal. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, 58, 2055-2059.
- Lee, M.H., Lai, W.L., Lin, S.F., Hsu, C.S., Liaw, S.H. and Tsai, Y.C. (2005a) Structural characterization of glucooligosaccharide oxidase from Acremonium strictum. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, **71**, 8881-8887.
- Lee, T.S., Khosla, C. and Tang, Y. (2005b) Engineered biosynthesis of aklanonic acid analogues. J Am Chem Soc, 127, 12254-12262.
- Li, M., Binda, C., Mattevi, A. and Edmondson, D.E. (2006) Functional role of the "aromatic cage" in human monoamine oxidase B: structures and catalytic properties of Tyr435 mutant proteins. *Biochemistry*, **45**, 4775-4784.
- Li, Q., Khosla, C., Puglisi, J.D. and Liu, C.W. (2003) Solution structure and backbone dynamics of the holo form of the frenolicin acyl carrier protein. *Biochemistry*, 42, 4648-4657.
- Liang, J., Ealick, S., Nielsen, C., Schreiber, S.L. and Clardy, J. (1996) Crystallization and preliminary X-ray analysis of twinned crystals of a chimeric FK506 binding protein 12 and 13 complexed with FK506. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr, 52, 207-210.
- Liaw, Y.C., Gao, Y.G., Robinson, H., van der Marel, G.A., van Boom, J.H. and Wang, A.H. (1989) Antitumor drug nogalamycin binds DNA in both grooves simultaneously: molecular structure of nogalamycin-DNA complex. *Biochemistry*, 28, 9913-9918.
- Lietzke, S.E., Carperos, V.E. and Kundrot, C.E. (1996) Data reduction from twinned RNA crystals. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, **52**, 687-692.

- Lorentzen, E., Pohl, E., Zwart, P., Stark, A., Russell, R.B., Knura, T., Hensel, R. and Siebers, B. (2003) Crystal structure of an archaeal class I aldolase and the evolution of (betaalpha)8 barrel proteins. *J Biol Chem*, **278**, 47253-47260.
- Lown, J.W. (1993) Anthracycline and anthraquinone anticancer agents: current status and recent developments. *Pharmacol Ther*, **60**, 185-214.
- Madduri, K. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1995a) Functional characterization and transcriptional analysis of a gene cluster governing early and late steps in daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius. *J Bacteriol*, **177**, 3879-3884.
- Madduri, K. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1995b) Functional characterization and transcriptional analysis of the dnrR1 locus, which controls daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius. *J Bacteriol*, **177**, 1208-1215.
- Madduri, K., Torti, F., Colombo, A.L. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1993) Cloning and sequencing of a gene encoding carminomycin 4-O-methyltransferase from Streptomyces peucetius and its expression in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol, 175, 3900-3904.
- Malito, E., Coda, A., Bilyeu, K.D., Fraaije, M.W. and Mattevi, A. (2004) Structures of Michaelis and product complexes of plant cytokinin dehydrogenase: implications for flavoenzyme catalysis. *J Mol Biol*, **341**, 1237-1249.
- Mathews, F.S., Chen, Z.W., Bellamy, H.D. and McIntire, W.S. (1991) Threedimensional structure of p-cresol methylhydroxylase (flavocytochrome c) from Pseudomonas putida at 3.0-A resolution. *Biochemistry*, **30**, 238-247.
- McDaniel, R., Ebert-Khosla, S., Hopwood, D.A. and Khosla, C. (1993) Engineered biosynthesis of novel polyketides. *Science*, **262**, 1546-1550.
- McGovren, J.P., Nelson, K.G., Lassus, M., Cradock, J.C., Plowman, J. and Christopher, J.P. (1984) Menogaril: a new anthracycline agent entering clinical trials. *Invest New Drugs*, **2**, 359-367.
- McIntire, W., Edmondson, D.E., Hopper, D.J. and Singer, T.P. (1981) 8 alpha-(O-Tyrosyl)flavin adenine dinucleotide, the prosthetic group of bacterial p-cresol methylhydroxylase. *Biochemistry*, 20, 3068-3075.
- Metsa-Ketela, M., Palmu, K., Kunnari, T., Ylihonko, K. and Mantsala, P. (2003) Engineering anthracycline biosynthesis toward angucyclines. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, **47**, 1291-1296.
- Mewies, M., McIntire, W.S. and Scrutton, N.S. (1998) Covalent attachment of flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) and flavin mononucleotide (FMN) to enzymes: the current state of affairs. *Protein Sci*, **7**, 7-20.
- Minotti, G., Menna, P., Salvatorelli, E., Cairo, G. and Gianni, L. (2004) Anthracyclines: molecular advances and pharmacologic developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. *Pharmacol Rev*, **56**, 185-229.
- Miyamoto, Y., Ohta, S., Johdo, O., Nagamatsu, Y. and Yoshimoto, A. (2000) Production of a new hybrid anthracycline 4-O-methylepelmycin by heterologous expression of dnrK in epelmycin-producing Streptomyces violaceus. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*, **53**, 828-836.
- Moche, M., Dehesh, K., Edwards, P. and Lindqvist, Y. (2001) The crystal structure of beta-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthase II from Synechocystis sp. at 1.54 A resolution and its relationship to other condensing enzymes. J Mol Biol, 305, 491-503.
- Monneret, C. (2001) Recent developments in the field of antitumour anthracyclines. *Eur J Med Chem*, **36**, 483-493.

- Moore, M.H., Hunter, W.N., d'Estaintot, B.L. and Kennard, O. (1989) DNA-drug interactions. The crystal structure of d(CGATCG) complexed with daunomycin. *J Mol Biol*, **206**, 693-705.
- Mordente, A., Meucci, E., Martorana, G.E., Giardina, B. and Minotti, G. (2001) Human heart cytosolic reductases and anthracycline cardiotoxicity. *IUBMB Life*, **52**, 83-88.
- Morse, D.E. and Horecker, B.L. (1968) The mechanism of action of aldolases. *Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol*, **31**, 125-181.
- Muggia, F.M. and Green, M.D. (1991) New anthracycline antitumor antibiotics. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol*, **11**, 43-64.
- Nagy, J. and Salach, J.I. (1981) Identity of the active site flavin-peptide fragments from the human "A"-form and the bovine "B"-form of monoamine oxidase. Arch Biochem Biophys, 208, 388-394.
- Neil, G.L., Kuentzel, S.L. and McGovren, J.P. (1979) Treatment of mouse tumors with 7-con-O-methylnogarol and other analogs of the anthracycline antibiotic, nogalamycin. *Cancer Treat Rep*, **63**, 1971-1978.
- Niemi, J., Kantola, J., Ylihonko, K. and Mäntsälä, P. (2002) *Anthracycline biosynthesis: Steps, enzymes and genes.* Research Signpost, Kerala, India.
- Niemi, J. and Mantsala, P. (1995) Nucleotide sequences and expression of genes from Streptomyces purpurascens that cause the production of new anthracyclines in Streptomyces galilaeus. J. Bacteriol., 177, 2942-2945.
- Niemi, J., Wang, Y., Airas, K., Ylihonko, K., Hakala, J. and Mantsala, P. (1999) Characterization of aklavinone-11-hydroxylase from Streptomyces purpurascens. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1430, 57-64.
- Niemi, J., Ylihonko, K., Hakala, J., Parssinen, R., Kopio, A. and Mantsala, P. (1994) Hybrid anthracycline antibiotics: production of new anthracyclines by cloned genes from Streptomyces purpurascens in Streptomyces galilaeus. *Microbiology*, 140, 1351-1358.
- Obasaju, C., Manola, J., Hudes, G.R., Khandekar, J.D., Citrin, D.L., Carbone, P. and Trump, D.L. (2001) Phase II evaluation of menogaril in advanced prostate cancer: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group EST P-A885. *Am J Clin Oncol*, 24, 150-154.
- Oki, T. (1977) New anthracycline antibiotics. Jpn J Antibiot, 30 Suppl, 70-84.
- Oki, T. (1984) Recent developments in the process improvement of production of antitumor anthracycline antibiotics. *Adv Biotechnol Processes*, **3**, 163-196.
- Oki, T. (1988) Antitumor anthracycline antibiotics from microbial origins. vol. 3, editor: Lown, J. W. Elsvier, Amsterdam. pp 95-119.
- Oki, T., Kitamura, I., Matsuzawa, Y., Shibamoto, N., Ogasawara, T., Yoshimoto, A., Inui, T., Naganawa, H., Takeuchi, T. and Umezawa, H. (1979a) Antitumor anthracycline antibiotics, aclacinomycin a and analogues. II. Structural determination. J Antibiot (Tokyo), 32, 801-819.
- Oki, T., Kitamura, I., Yoshimoto, A., Matsuzawa, Y., Shibamoto, N., Ogasawara, T., Inui, T., Takamatsu, A., Takeuchi, T., Masuda, T., Hamada, M., Suda, H., Ishizuka, M., Sawa, T. and Umezawa, H. (1979b) Antitumor anthracycline antibiotics, aclacinomycin A and analogues. I. Taxonomy, production, isolation and physicochemical properties. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*, **32**, 791-800.
- Oki, T., Matsuzawa, Y., Yoshimoto, A., Numata, K. and Kitamura, I. (1975) New antitumor antibiotics aclacinomycins A and B. J Antibiot (Tokyo), 28, 830-834.
- Olano, C., Lomovskaya, N., Fonstein, L., Roll, J.T. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1999) A two-plasmid system for the glycosylation of polyketide antibiotics: bioconversion of epsilon-rhodomycinone to rhodomycin D. *Chem Biol*, **6**, 845-855.
- Ollis, D.L., Cheah, E., Cygler, M., Dijkstra, B., Frolow, F., Franken, S.M., Harel, M., Remington, S.J., Silman, I. and Schrag, J. (1992) The alpha/beta hydrolase fold. *Protein Eng*, 5, 197-211.
- Olsen, J.G., Kadziola, A., von Wettstein-Knowles, P., Siggaard-Andersen, M., Lindquist, Y. and Larsen, S. (1999) The X-ray crystal structure of betaketoacyl [acyl carrier protein] synthase I. FEBS Lett, 460, 46-52.
- Omura, S., Ikeda, H., Malpartida, F., Kieser, H.M. and Hopwood, D.A. (1986) Production of new hybrid antibiotics, mederrhodins A and B, by a genetically engineered strain. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, **29**, 13-19.
- Oppermann, U., Filling, C., Hult, M., Shafqat, N., Wu, X., Lindh, M., Shafqat, J., Nordling, E., Kallberg, Y., Persson, B. and Jornvall, H. (2003) Short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (SDR): the 2002 update. *Chem Biol Interact*, 143-144, 247-253.
- Otten, S.L., Stutzman-Engwall, K.J. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1990) Cloning and expression of daunorubicin biosynthesis genes from Streptomyces peucetius and S. peucetius subsp. caesius. *J Bacteriol*, **172**, 3427-3434.
- Pan, H., Tsai, S., Meadows, E.S., Miercke, L.J., Keatinge-Clay, A.T., O'Connell, J., Khosla, C. and Stroud, R.M. (2002) Crystal structure of the priming betaketosynthase from the R1128 polyketide biosynthetic pathway. *Structure*, 10, 1559-1568.
- Paulick, R.C., Casey, M.L. and Whitlock, H.W. (1976) Letter: A 13C nuclear magnetic resonance study of the biosynthesis of daunomycin from 13CH313CO2Na. J Am Chem Soc, 98, 3370-3371.
- Perrakis, A., Morris, R. and Lamzin, V.S. (1999) Automated protein model building combined with iterative structure refinement. *Nat. Struct. Biol.*, **6**, 458-463.
- Pilch, D.S., Yu, C., Makhey, D., LaVoie, E.J., Srinivasan, A.R., Olson, W.K., Sauers, R.R., Breslauer, K.J., Geacintov, N.E. and Liu, L.F. (1997) Minor groovedirected and intercalative ligand-DNA interactions in the poisoning of human DNA topoisomerase I by protoberberine analogs. *Biochemistry*, 36, 12542-12553.
- Priebe, W. and Perez-Soler, R. (1993) Design and tumor targeting of anthracyclines able to overcome multidrug resistance: a double-advantage approach. *Pharmacol Ther*, **60**, 215-234.
- Quigley, G.J., Wang, A.H., Ughetto, G., van der Marel, G., van Boom, J.H. and Rich, A. (1980) Molecular structure of an anticancer drug-DNA complex: daunomycin plus d(CpGpTpApCpG). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 77, 7204-7208.
- Rajgarhia, V.B., Priestley, N.D. and Strohl, W.R. (2001) The product of dpsC confers starter unit fidelity upon the daunorubicin polyketide synthase of Streptomyces sp. strain C5. *Metab Eng*, **3**, 49-63.
- Raty, K., Kantola, J., Hautala, A., Hakala, J., Ylihonko, K. and Mantsala, P. (2002) Cloning and characterization of Streptomyces galilaeus aclacinomycins polyketide synthase (PKS) cluster. *Gene*, **293**, 115-122.

- Raty, K., Kunnari, T., Hakala, J., Mantsala, P. and Ylihonko, K. (2000) A gene cluster from Streptomyces galilaeus involved in glycosylation of aclarubicin. *Mol Gen Genet*, 264, 164-172.
- Rees, D.C. and Lipscomb, W.N. (1980) Structure of potato inhibitor complex of carboxypeptidase A at 5.5-A resolution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 77, 277-280.
- Rees, D.C. and Lipscomb, W.N. (1982) Refined crystal structure of the potato inhibitor complex of carboxypeptidase A at 2.5 A resolution. *J Mol Biol*, **160**, 475-498.
- Reeve, C.D., Carver, M.A. and Hopper, D.J. (1989) The purification and characterization of 4-ethylphenol methylenehydroxylase, a flavocytochrome from Pseudomonas putida JD1. *Biochem J*, **263**, 431-437.
- Reinert, K.E. (1983) Anthracycline-binding induced DNA stiffening, bending and elongation; stereochemical implications from viscometric investigations. *Nucleic Acids Res*, **11**, 3411-3430.
- Rudolph, M.G., Kelker, M.S., Schneider, T.R., Yeates, T.O., Oseroff, V., Heidary, D.K., Jennings, P.A. and Wilson, I.A. (2003) Use of multiple anomalous dispersion to phase highly merohedrally twinned crystals of interleukin-1beta. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, **59**, 290-298.
- Rudolph, M.G., Wingren, C., Crowley, M.P., Chien, Y.H. and Wilson, I.A. (2004) Combined pseudo-merohedral twinning, non-crystallographic symmetry and pseudo-translation in a monoclinic crystal form of the gammadelta T-cell ligand T10. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, **60**, 656-664.
- Rutter, W.J. (1964) Evolution of Aldolase. Fed Proc, 23, 1248-1257.
- Schneider, G. (2005) Enzymes in the biosynthesis of aromatic polyketide antibiotics. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, **15**, 629-636.
- Schrijvers, D., Bos, A.M., Dyck, J., de Vries, E.G., Wanders, J., Roelvink, M., Fumoleau, P., Bortini, S. and Vermorken, J.B. (2002) Phase I study of MEN-10755, a new anthracycline in patients with solid tumours: a report from the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer, Early Clinical Studies Group. Ann Oncol, 13, 385-391.
- Sciara, G., Kendrew, S.G., Miele, A.E., Marsh, N.G., Federici, L., Malatesta, F., Schimperna, G., Savino, C. and Vallone, B. (2003) The structure of ActVA-Orf6, a novel type of monooxygenase involved in actinorhodin biosynthesis. *Embo J*, 22, 205-215.
- Scotti, C. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1996) Enhanced antibiotic production by manipulation of the Streptomyces peucetius dnrH and dnmT genes involved in doxorubicin (adriamycin) biosynthesis. *J Bacteriol*, **178**, 7316-7321.
- Sheldrick, G.M. and Schneider, T.R. (1997) *ShelxL: high resolution refinement. Methods in Enzymology.* San Diego: Academic Press.
- Shen, B. (2003) Polyketide biosynthesis beyond the type I, II and III polyketide synthase paradigms. *Curr Opin Chem Biol*, 7, 285-295.
- Shen, B. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1993) Tetracenomycin F2 cyclase: intramolecular aldol condensation in the biosynthesis of tetracenomycin C in Streptomyces glaucescens. *Biochemistry*, **32**, 11149-11154.
- Shen, Y., Yoon, P., Yu, T.W., Floss, H.G., Hopwood, D. and Moore, B.S. (1999) Ectopic expression of the minimal whiE polyketide synthase generates a library of aromatic polyketides of diverse sizes and shapes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 3622-3627.

- Singer, T.P., Kearney, E.B. and Massey, V. (1956) *Succinate dehydrogenase*. Academic Press, New York.
- Skladanowski, A. and Konopa, J. (1994a) Interstrand DNA crosslinking induced by anthracyclines in tumour cells. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **47**, 2269-2278.
- Skladanowski, A. and Konopa, J. (1994b) Relevance of interstrand DNA crosslinking induced by anthracyclines for their biological activity. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 47, 2279-2287.
- Sorensen, B.S., Sinding, J., Andersen, A.H., Alsner, J., Jensen, P.B. and Westergaard, O. (1992) Mode of action of topoisomerase II-targeting agents at a specific DNA sequence. Uncoupling the DNA binding, cleavage and religation events. *J Mol Biol*, **228**, 778-786.
- Straghan, E., Sharma, G., Goldfarb, P. and Wiseman, A. (1996) Identification of prooxidant or antioxidant characteristics of proteins and enzymes in membranes; use of liposome-entrapped proteins and other thiol-containing compounds. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 24, 375S.
- Strohl, W.R., Bartel, P.L., Connors, N.C., Zhu, C.-B., Dosch, D.C., Beale, J.M.Jr., Floss, H.G., Stutzman-Engwall, K., Otten, S.L. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1989) *Biosynthesis of natural and hybrid polyketides by anthracycline producing streptomyces.* editors: Hershberger, C. L., Queneer, S. W., Hegeman, G. American society of Microbiology, Washington, D.C. ser. title: Genetics and molecular biology of industrial microorganisms. pp 68-84.
- Strohl, W.R. and Connors, N.C. (1992) Significance of anthraquinone formation resulting from the cloning of actinorhodin genes in heterologous streptomycetes. *Mol Microbiol*, 6, 147-152.
- Strohl, W.R., Dickens, M.L., Rajgarhia, V.B., Woo, A.J. and Priestley, N.D. (1997) Anthracyclines. vol. 82, ser. title: Biotechnology of Antibiotics, Ed. 2, pp 577-657.
- Stutzman-Engwall, K.J. and Hutchinson, C.R. (1989) Multigene families for anthracycline antibiotic production in Streptomyces peucetius. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **86**, 3135-3139.
- Sygusch, J. and Beaudry, D. (1984) Catalytic activity of rabbit skeletal muscle aldolase in the crystalline state. *J Biol Chem*, **259**, 10222-10227.
- Tanaka, H., Yoshioka, T., Yoshimoto, A., Shimauchi, Y., Ishikura, T., Takeuchi, T. and Umezawa, H. (1983) Chemical modification of anthracycline antibiotics.
 V. Synthesis of 2-hydroxyaclacinomycin A by chemical glycosidation. J Antibiot (Tokyo), 36, 601-603.
- Tang, Y., Lee, T.S. and Khosla, C. (2004) Engineered biosynthesis of regioselectively modified aromatic polyketides using bimodular polyketide synthases. *PLoS Biol*, 2, E31.
- Tewey, K.M., Rowe, T.C., Yang, L., Halligan, B.D. and Liu, L.F. (1984) Adriamycininduced DNA damage mediated by mammalian DNA topoisomerase II. *Science*, 226, 466-468.
- Thompson, T.B., Katayama, K., Watanabe, K., Hutchinson, C.R. and Rayment, I. (2004) Structural and functional analysis of tetracenomycin F2 cyclase from Streptomyces glaucescens. A type II polyketide cyclase. J Biol Chem, 279, 37956-37963.
- Thorell, S., Gergely, P., Jr., Banki, K., Perl, A. and Schneider, G. (2000) The threedimensional structure of human transaldolase. *FEBS Lett*, **475**, 205-208.

- Thorell, S., Schurmann, M., Sprenger, G.A. and Schneider, G. (2002) Crystal structure of decameric fructose-6-phosphate aldolase from Escherichia coli reveals inter-subunit helix swapping as a structural basis for assembly differences in the transaldolase family. *J Mol Biol*, **319**, 161-171.
- Torkkell, S., Kunnari, T., Palmu, K., Hakala, J., Mantsala, P. and Ylihonko, K. (2000) Identification of a cyclase gene dictating the C-9 stereochemistry of anthracyclines from Streptomyces nogalater. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, 44, 396-399.
- Torkkell, S., Kunnari, T., Palmu, K., Mantsala, P., Hakala, J. and Ylihonko, K. (2001) The entire nogalamycin biosynthetic gene cluster of Streptomyces nogalater: characterization of a 20-kb DNA region and generation of hybrid structures. *Mol. Genet. Genomics*, **266**, 276-288.
- Torkkell, S., Ylihonko, K., Hakala, J., Skurnik, M. and Mantsala, P. (1997) Characterization of Streptomyces nogalater genes encoding enzymes involved in glycosylation steps in nogalamycin biosynthesis. *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, **256**, 203-209.
- Trefzer, A., Salas, J.A. and Bechthold, A. (1999) Genes and enzymes involved in deoxysugar biosynthesis in bacteria. *Nat Prod Rep*, **16**, 283-299.
- Tuteja, N., Phan, T.N., Tuteja, R., Ochem, A. and Falaschi, A. (1997) Inhibition of DNA unwinding and ATPase activities of human DNA helicase II by chemotherapeutic agents. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 236, 636-640.
- Umezawa, H. (1978a) New microbial secondary metabolites under preclinical development for cancer treatment. *Recent Results Cancer Res*, **63**, 120-134.
- Umezawa, H. (1978b) Recent advances in antitumor antibiotics. *Antibiot Chemother*, **23**, 76-87.
- Valegard, K., van Scheltinga, A.C., Lloyd, M.D., Hara, T., Ramaswamy, S., Perrakis, A., Thompson, A., Lee, H.J., Baldwin, J.E., Schofield, C.J., Hajdu, J. and Andersson, I. (1998) Structure of a cephalosporin synthase. *Nature*, **394**, 805-809.
- Van Epps, H.L. and Dubos, R.J. (2006) Unearthing antibiotics. J. Exp. Med., 203, 259-.
- Vetrivel, K.S. and Dharmalingam, K. (2001) Isolation and characterization of stable mutants of Streptomyces peucetius defective in daunorubicin biosynthesis. J Genet, 80, 31-38.
- Vuillemin, J.P. (1893) Remarques sur les affinités des Basidiomycétes (Remarks on the affinities of the Basidiomycetes). *Journal de Botanique (Botancal Journal)*, 7, 164.
- Wadler, S., Fuks, J.Z. and Wiernik, P.H. (1986) Phase I and II agents in cancer therapy: I. Anthracyclines and related compounds. *J Clin Pharmacol*, **26**, 491-509.
- Wagner, C., Eckardt, K., Schumann, G., Ihn, W. and Tresselt, D. (1984) Microbial transformation of aklanonic acid, a potential early intermediate in the biosynthesis of anthracyclines. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*, **37**, 691-692.
- Wagner, J., Lerner, R.A. and Barbas, C.F., 3rd. (1995) Efficient aldolase catalytic antibodies that use the enamine mechanism of natural enzymes. *Science*, **270**, 1797-1800.
- Waksman, S.A. (1955) Definition of antibiotics. G Ital Chemioter, 2, 161-167.
- Walczak, R.J., Dickens, M.L., Priestley, N.D. and Strohl, W.R. (1999) Purification, properties, and characterization of recombinant Streptomyces sp. strain C5 DoxA, a cytochrome P-450 catalyzing multiple steps in doxorubicin biosynthesis. J Bacteriol, 181, 298-304.

- Walker, W.H. and Singer, T.P. (1970) Identification of the covalently bound flavin of succinate dehydrogenase as 8-alpha-(histidyl) flavin adenine dinucleotide. J Biol Chem, 245, 4224-4225.
- Wang, A.H., Ughetto, G., Quigley, G.J. and Rich, A. (1987) Interactions between an anthracycline antibiotic and DNA: molecular structure of daunomycin complexed to d(CpGpTpApCpG) at 1.2-A resolution. *Biochemistry*, 26, 1152-1163.
- Wang, Y., Niemi, J., Airas, K., Ylihonko, K., Hakala, J. and Mantsala, P. (2000) Modifications of aclacinomycin T by aclacinomycin methyl esterase (RdmC) and aclacinomycin-10-hydroxylase (RdmB) from Streptomyces purpurascens. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1480**, 191-200.
- Warrell, R.P., Jr. (1986) Aclacinomycin A: clinical development of a novel anthracycline antibiotic in the haematological cancers. *Drugs Exp Clin Res*, 12, 275-282.
- Weiss, R.B., Sarosy, G., Clagett-Carr, K., Russo, M. and Leyland-Jones, B. (1986) Anthracycline analogs: the past, present, and future. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 18, 185-197.
- Wiernik, P.H. and Dutcher, J.P. (1992) Clinical importance of anthracyclines in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia*, **6 Suppl 1**, 67-69.
- Wiley, P.F., Elrod, D.W. and Marshall, V.P. (1978) Biosynthesis of the anthracycline antibiotics nogalamycin and steffimycin B. J. Org. Chem., 43, 3457-3461.
- Wiley, P.F., Johnson, J.L. and Houser, D.J. (1977a) Nogalamycin analogs having improved antitumor activity. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*, **30**, 628-629.
- Wiley, P.F., Kelly, R.B., Caron, E.L., Wiley, V.H., Johnson, J.H., MacKellar, F.A. and Mizsak, S.A. (1977b) Structure of nogalamycin. J Am Chem Soc, 99, 542-549.
- Wiley, P.F., MacKellar, F.A., Caron, E.L. and Kelly, R.B. (1968) Isolation, characterization and degradation of nogalamycin. *Tetrahedron Lett*, **6**, 663-668.
- Williams, L.D., Egli, M., Qi, G., Bash, P., van der Marel, G.A., van Boom, J.H., Rich, A. and Frederick, C.A. (1990) Structure of nogalamycin bound to a DNA hexamer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87, 2225-2229.
- Winkler, A., Hartner, F., Kutchan, T.M., Glieder, A. and Macheroux, P. (2006) Biochemical evidence that berberine bridge enzyme belongs to a novel family of flavoproteins containing a bi-covalently attached FAD cofactor. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 21276-21285.
- Wojtacki, J. (1998) [Cardiac complications of antineoplastic chemotherapy]. Pol Arch Med Wewn, 100, 470-482.
- Wojtacki, J., Lewicka-Nowak, E. and Lesniewski-Kmak, K. (2000) Anthracyclineinduced cardiotoxicity: clinical course, risk factors, pathogenesis, detection and prevention--review of the literature. *Med Sci Monit*, **6**, 411-420.
- Yang, C.C., Packman, L.C. and Scrutton, N.S. (1995) The primary structure of Hyphomicrobium X dimethylamine dehydrogenase. Relationship to trimethylamine dehydrogenase and implications for substrate recognition. *Eur J Biochem*, 232, 264-271.
- Yang, D. and Wang, A.H. (1994) Structure by NMR of antitumor drugs aclacinomycin A and B complexed to d(CGTACG). *Biochemistry*, **33**, 6595-6604.
- Yang, F., Dauter, Z. and Wlodawer, A. (2000) Effects of crystal twinning on the ability to solve a macromolecular structure using multiwavelength anomalous diffraction. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr, 56, 959-964.

- Ye, J., Dickens, M.L., Plater, R., Li, Y., Lawrence, J. and Strohl, W.R. (1994) Isolation and sequence analysis of polyketide synthase genes from the daunomycinproducing Streptomyces sp. strain C5. *J Bacteriol*, **176**, 6270-6280.
- Yeates, T.O. (1997) Methods Enzymol.vol. 276, pp 344-358.
- Yeates, T.O. and Fam, B.C. (1999) Protein crystals and their evil twins. *Structure*, 7, R25-29.
- Ylihonko, K., Hakala, J., Kunnari, T. and Mantsala, P. (1996a) Production of hybrid anthracycline antibiotics by heterologous expression of Streptomyces nogalater nogalamycin biosynthesis genes. *Microbiology*, **142** (Pt 8), 1965-1972.
- Ylihonko, K., Hakala, J., Niemi, J., Lundell, J. and Mantsala, P. (1994) Isolation and characterization of aclacinomycin A-non-producing Streptomyces galilaeus (ATCC 31615) mutants. *Microbiology*, **140** (Pt 6), 1359-1365.
- Ylihonko, K., Tuikkanen, J., Jussila, S., Cong, L. and Mantsala, P. (1996b) A gene cluster involved in nogalamycin biosynthesis from Streptomyces nogalater: sequence analysis and complementation of early-block mutations in the anthracycline pathway. *Mol Gen Genet*, **251**, 113-120.
- Yoshimoto, A., Ogasawara, T., Kitamura, I., Oki, T., Inui, T., Takeuchi, T. and Umezawa, H. (1979) Enzymatic conversion of aclacinomycin A to Y by a specific oxidoreductase in Streptomyces. *J Antibiot (Tokyo).* **32**, 472-481.

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Gunter Schneider for his continuous support and guidance throughout my PhD studies and sharing his wide knowledge about crystallography and enzymology. His insightful advices during the challenging stages of my research have been invaluable and greatly appreciated.

I would like to thank my co-supervisor, Professor Ylva Lindqvist for her encouragement and guidance throughout the whole period.

I am thankful to my supervisors for giving me the opportunity to work in a very halcyon yet challenging environment in their laboratory and interesting projects. It was a great opportunity for me to learn crystallography. Besides, I also enjoyed very much the events like Structure-celebration parties, Christmas dinners, "Slätrask", and last but not least the great summers and crazy winters. It has been an eventful experience in Stockholm.

I want to thank my collaborators at the University of Turku, Finland for the successful collaboration. Thanks to Pauli, Igor, Mikko, Jarmo and Pekka, for the fruitful discussions and for being very helpful. I had a great time during my work for two weeks in Turku. Special thanks to Pauli for his company in the evenings and Igor for teaching me molecular biology and the very delicious dinner at his place. Thanks to Thadée for the ride when it was extremely cold and interesting conversations during lunch.

Thanks to Eva for her prompt response and help with the official matters. Tanja, I am really thankful to you for all your patience at the synchrotron, collecting datasets for me, and for your guidance and caring. Ahmad, thank you a lot for being so nice and helping me whenever required.

Inari, I think I had the best time of my PhD studies after you came to our lab. I enjoyed a lot our conversations about work and outside work. Your friendship and help is heartfelt.

Hanna, thanks a lot for being so sweet and a good friend. I greatly enjoyed knowing you. Robert: thanks for sharing your interesting views about history and of all the weird things on the earth. Edward: for discussing football with me during lunch time. Doreen; thanks for all your help and I really enjoyed the time when we went home together in the evenings. My long term room-mates, Stina and Catrine, for the good times during my stay.

I would like to thank some other people from our group, Jodie, Magnus, Daniel for their companionship, Bernie-for helping me with 'Coot' as well as Petri for his help in my 'twinning' project. Newest members of our group: Jolanta and Jean-Marie. I wish I had more time to know each other more.

Some former members of the group:

Anna, it was a pleasure to work with you. I am thankful for your patience and guidance and helping me so much with my projects. Your and Andreas's help during our moving out in the winter is greatly appreciated. Thanks a lot for being a good friend.

Mona: for always being very nice and caring.

Former PhD students: Stefano, Jenny, Martin and specially Lucas and postdocs- Jessy, Alexei and Phillip for their help and sharing nice times.

I am thankful to several people outside my group and work:

Claudia; thanks for being so nice during my teaching. It was a pleasure knowing you.

All my friends at Jägargatan, specially Mat, Serkalem, Alvin, Pádraig, Wessen, Markus, Anna, Djoke, Frederica, Anja, Frederieke, Torben, Mattihas, Julio (for the delicious Italian-pasta), Kinga, Caroline, Mia (also for being my dentist), Prasad, Gonzalo (for introducing me to the sports-bar). I had a great time with you. It would have been difficult for me to adjust with a completely new culture without your friendship and company. I would like you people to know that your friendship is greatly treasured!

Mat, I owe you special thanks for proofing my thesis. I enjoyed our arguments about who is being more evil (you know it has always been you!).

My friends from Bangladesh specially, Robin (Jhaura), Tanveer (Boga), Manoshi, Bipul (Titir), Subrata (Aku), and Upal (Genda pola) for their support and love. I have missed our get-togethers and weird discussions a lot.

My sincere gratitude to my parents, parent-in-laws, other inlaws, Sumon, Biny, Mitu Apu and Tonmoy Bhai for their loving support.

Finally, I would like to thank my husband, Ishtiak for all his support, care and love. His encouragement and understanding helped me a lot throughout my educational carrier, especially during my PhD studies.